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The graphic on the cover depicts a blooming dandelion dispersing its seeds to
every corner of the territory. It symbolises the efforts of the Competition
Commission in sowing the seeds of fair competition in different sectors of Hong
Kong's economy over the years. Entering its fifth year of full operation, the
Commission looks forward to furthering its impact and driving changes in business
culture with the aim of safeguarding a level-playing field, bringing the many
benefits that flow from effective market competition to everyone in Hong Kong.
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About the Competition Commission

BEEE WHO WE ARE

HFEBRZEE (BEY) 2RIE (BRFEGD
(K1&G1) ) (28 619 &) REILAVBILEATE B EE
Gy 522015 F 12 B 14 HEERER - HE
ERNHBEFNEHES  SNERAFH
BFEIRE  LITARBEBEEREZEE
FEERATE A ERNER R -

The Competition Commission (Commission) is an independent statutory
body established under the Competition Ordinance (Ordinance) (Cap.
619) which came into full effect on 14 December 2015. The Commission
is committed to promoting a competitive environment that is conducive
to free flow of trade, efficiency and innovation, bringing increased choice
and better quality and lower prices of goods and services to consumers in
Hong Kong.

BT E WHAT WE DO

CfEp) EEBILIEE  BREISIRMEERF
BORREE ~ MUERTTR - URBIEKIEHIFEEE
BFNEHITR - AHFRIBRIRBANE K
EREEESARE (BHEAD) (55106 F)
BHAFEEEMROEBERNGH

The objective of the Ordinance is to prohibit agreements, practices and
conduct that prevent, restrict or distort competition, and to prohibit
mergers that substantially lessen competition in Hong Kong. The scope
of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to mergers involving
undertakings directly or indirectly holding carrier licences issued under the
Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106).

The Commission is tasked with the following functions under the Ordinance:

RIE (1561 - HESABITUUTHAE

AERBEER (RE) FraEIEF<FRIAY
1Th » R¥AT (I&6G1) AR

To investigate conduct that may contravene the competition rules of
the Ordinance and enforce the provisions of the Ordinance;

REARERFAEER (FEG)
(EERE A 7 7

HENEE B EEFNESERBRME
BRI REMEIEEE  LER
HEEEERIET (&)
MEETBERNRIBINGEEET M5
BERFRHEER

A ERETERENEE  ETHS
M LR
BEHEERIENEE
FEMAE  LRIEEZS
R o

KBRS
FHERIA

To promote public understanding of the value of competition and
how the Ordinance promotes competition;

To promote the adoption by undertakings carrying on business in
Hong Kong of appropriate internal controls and risk management
systems and to ensure their compliance with the Ordinance;

To advise the Government on competition matters in Hong Kong and
outside Hong Kong;

To conduct market studies into matters affecting competition in
markets in Hong Kong; and

To promote research into and the development of skills in relation
to the legal, economic and policy aspects of competition law in
Hong Kong.

The Commission’s Vision, Mission and Values embody the spirit in which we

BEENEER  EHRESER T RMETH
BaET - BIE@HIT (1R61) RitEFERN
BFIRIF o

carry out our duties to safeguard competition in Hong Kong by enforcing
the Ordinance.

Competition Commission
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About the Competition Commission

e VISION

EEBUEEREFAMETLIEIIRIE » 38 To safeguard a level-playing field for consumers and businesses in Hong

FHSEE S ~ BEEIET 0 RIEEEEEFE - Kong, enhancing economic vibrancy, stimulating innovation and delivering
consumer benefits.

EH MISSION

EBEEaFEIEASUE ~ BESFERBERE  To prevent anti-competitive agreements, practices and conduct through
sk DBSLEREEFHIRE « MUERITE - nurturing a culture conducive to competition, advocating compliance and
engaging in effective law enforcement.

VALUES

il
clp

WAL RRBEENREB B T TS . Independent: We will act independently within the confines of the

law;

HE: DT R G ZHEEEEE . Professional: We will take action and make decisions in an impartial,
TTENRIREE 5 objective and professional manner;

ERR: RS ERE - LEAERMAE - Transparent: We will make ourselves accessible and accountable for

ERITENREST & our decisions and actions; and
FEH:BEMEALT REBAAFL . Integrity: We will treat all people with respect, protect personal
&P EEHER o interests and uphold ethical standards.

2019/2020 %R | 03 = Annual Report 2019/2020
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Chairperson’s Statement
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Anna WU Hung-yuk
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MAmBREHEEE2019F58 BEE
TEMREGESES £ 14BARKAE
Bi% EREEUREERFAERNEEE
Bi% - AFY) BHETM—REEGEE
4 W REREAPFREE T ERIHAAR - B
RER B ERM T IAMWIES - F I T RS
M EE  LRABEGRZEHE EHIEHE
B EEERBEHEFIE (155)) A9ZI R LR

BT E—SREHANE - HEYTEMEMEN
HERRS - FF—EHEEE A - 5T RAT
BRARENL  BFEEBOAZEAS 7

Entering its fifth year of full operation, the Competition Commission
(Commission) is rapidly maturing as a law enforcement agency with
significant progress made across its entire spectrum of work. The year of
2019/20 has seen several “firsts”in Hong Kong'’s competition law regime with
important judgments handed down by the Competition Tribunal (Tribunal)
and three new cartel cases filed, each bearing unique significance. These
cases reflect the Commission’s effort to systematically and strategically
establish legal precedents for the new law and to test the various tools in its
arsenal for enforcement.

The Commission has so far initiated proceedings in six cases, all covering
hardcore anti-competitive conducts including bid-rigging, market sharing
and price fixing. The first two cases were ruled in favour of the Commission
in May 2019 with a total of 14 companies convicted, marking a key milestone
for both the Commission and the Hong Kong competition law regime. Earlier
this year, the Tribunal has also handed down its first judgment on pecuniary
penalties against ten decoration contractors in a renovation cartel case. This
has provided clear guidance for businesses to understand how penalties are
calculated and to know that the Commission would ask for the maximum

allowable under the Competition Ordinance (Ordinance) where warranted.

To further enhance enforcement effectiveness and efficiencies, the
Commission has been strengthening deterrence on one hand and

encouraging cooperation on the other. Apart from holding companies

Z88 | 04 | Competition Commission
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Chairperson’s Statement

HEBA TR E7TE  BFFKITE responsible, we have brought enforcement actions against individuals in

FCHEEEEE c MERMARNHRRIZESHE our recent cases seeking pecuniary penalties as well as disqualification of
= SEEERIBMFATNEERTAE [ directors. Exemplified by our latest textbook cartel case, the Commission
HHEATHHXZENBAREMBRND - 5ixs has started to bring action against parent company for a contravention

ME X ZXEEBREMEASARNDSESEH— committed by a subsidiary over which it exercises decisive influence.
BEEEFE - IZE PN BREEREREER We believe this will send a strong signal to parent companies about the
BIEBATIARE & I9I8<F (IEH) importance of ensuring compliance with the Ordinance by their whole group

of companies including themselves.

ESEICESE BEEFRNBRT (EER To encourage cooperation, we have published a Cooperation and Settlement
MEERE) » TEET 7T ESFRIIEZE » IEHIEX Policy during the year and enhanced our leniency framework, expanding
EEAREA - MATWES - 83285 » 85F  its coverage to individuals, such as employees of a company. At the time
SN ENNESTE  BRTESESTFN of writing, the Commission has also published a policy on recommended
HE e EEnBEsRiEE pecuniary penalties for anti-competitive conduct engaged by businesses,
BSIFKE - IREETE AERERE - DL E thereby providing transparency on the methodology the Commission will
CIEHEER T —AZEIIEDR  ERESE use in making fine recommendations to the Tribunal. These three policies
1TAENS ¥ MBI e 2R RIEHESED have formed a comprehensive framework for businesses engaged in
1F5R - fETNsRH ;A & IEANREMGER cartels to assess the benefits of coming forward and cooperating with the
Commission, thus strengthening enforcement and enhancing deterrence.

AR ARSI  EBEEM AN RS SRET Apart from bringing cases to court, it is important, and at times more
FEEE aEEZEFAENR - BEELZEEs  efficent, to resolve competition issues through alternative dispute resolution.
BRSRT  2RBGRRLIINI SRS E In line with the Commission’s focus on encouraging compliance in its initial
EiEBEERERBIENERE - TUREIE A IE years, the Commission has made use of non-litigation remedies, where
EEHRRE ) EME TGS e EFYHIE appropriate, to address and rectify competition concerns promptly and
ISYEINESTERBE - itk SR ER—R proportionately. To this end, the Commission has issued its first infringement
HBRENRRIEENAT  BHETEHMHEEZR notice to a company involved in IT procurement matters and accepted

HNE - NEXES =B ERTHERACE - commitments, for the first time, offered by three major online travel agents
R EEEEEERAESRITNEND » Zi% to remove parity clauses in their contracts with accommodation providers in
TEER - Hong Kong.

ZHEIALL  BReRRENEXISESRE— While all our current cases so far involved cartel conduct under the First

1TAFRITHEEITA - kK » BHPHER Conduct Rule, going forward we are broadening our enforcement and
AT IEBIRREZE (&5 BEMERSD » BiF litigation in other areas of the law, including the Second Conduct Rule
ST ERTMISERNE—1TAFE] o LLEHEHE  that targets abuse of substantial market power. This will help to develop
Bhe (I&E) R RIERSI TG - WAER precedents related to the entire Ordinance and provide greater guidance to
RiEEFIRMEE EMAVIES| - the business and legal communities.

AR ERETERNMSES] - LIRS In addressing market restrictions arising from public policies and
HEBMAER  BEZe—EHIEBR&EHE mainstreaming competition principles into regulations, the Commission
LIV ARBRIE - BREBET RIFEHESEF has been using various non-enforcement approaches to build and sustain
1t FER AERUNEHERHFITLAREKRER a robust competitive culture. During the year, competition-related policy
EEIR BHARBEREESARNNER advice continued to play an increasingly important role in the formulation
R o BE—S BB AL R RIS sE S AR A S and execution of public policies and schemes. To further facilitate
THERNER X edE T RKETRMER incorporation of competition criteria into the policy making process, the

2019/2020 %R | 05 | Annual Report 2019/2020
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Chairperson’s Statement
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Commission is completing a comparative study of competition impact
assessment regimes which involved renowned academics from different
regions, aiming to produce a recommended framework with practical
guidelines for the public sector in Hong Kong.

Over the years, the Commission has seen to fruition its education and
advocacy efforts, reflected by increased community awareness of
the Ordinance as well as gradual and concrete changes in business
practices and culture in Hong Kong. As the Commission develops,
advocacy and enforcement have been complementing each other, with
advocacy bringing in complaints and cases, and enforcement outcomes
generating public attention. As a matter of fact, almost all of our cases
before the Tribunal so far have been complaints-driven. In sustaining the
momentum, the Commission has launched a multi-pronged advocacy
campaign during the year to further encourage the community, especially
victims, to report suspected anti-competitive conduct. Going forward,
the Commission is stepping up its engagement with local lawyers to
strengthen their involvement in competition law so that they will be better
equipped to handle competition cases for their clients (in particular SME
clients) and advise them on risk management and compliance matters.

Internationally, the Commission has been actively establishing strong ties
with its overseas counterparts since inception and has benefitted greatly
from the support, wisdom and experience amassed in other jurisdictions. The
Commission is assuming an increasingly active role in sharing experience
with other young jurisdictions in the nearby region and we are committed
to promoting collaboration across sectors and jurisdictions. To this end, a
summit was held last Summer gathering competition law enforcers and
academics in the Asia-Pacific region to explore ideas and opportunities
for collaboration. In our second year as the co-chair of the International
Competition Network (ICN) Advocacy Group, the Commission took the lead
in a number of initiatives to advance the adoption of competition principles
in government and promoting the development of a competition culture
within the society.

On a personal note, this will be my last report delivered in the capacity of
the Commission’s Chairperson. | am privileged and honoured to have served
the Commission in the last seven years. It was an extremely challenging
yet rewarding experience from seeing the introduction of the cross sector
competition regime to the legislation coming into full action, with effects
seen across different business sectors.

HZE88 | 06 | Competition Commission
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Chairperson’s Statement

BROBHHTZEFR—EZE » FIEIREY I would like to express my sincere thanks to the government for its
mreRFIRIEEZEREHEARSE 2L continuing support over the years and my deepest gratitude to all past
LIRFEEREY - ;% BIA+oBE e T and current Members of the Commission for their invaluable contribution.

HER - 8RRy  —EEFSERS Lastly, | want to express my appreciation for a very able and dedicated team
SN TERBE - at the Commission who has been keeping the engine tuned and running.

BREED ' EXEHEF xS TeE=RE I am confident that going forward, the Commission will be able to capitalise
BR|RE « ERREES - BERITHIRE & on its knowledge, resources and experience and continue its work in its
B—UEEMEROE SR minss 3 Ardszkey various functions, bringing the full benefits of effective market competition

1R o BTN EEIL S » TR B RER 5T to everyone in Hong Kong. | take this opportunity to wish Mr. Samuel Chan,
SR TIE—LIIER - the new Chairman, success in all his future endeavours.

FE Anna WU Hung-yuk
AL E Chairperson

2019/2020 %R | 07 | Annual Report 2019/2020
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CEO’s Statement

HEBHREES
COMPETITION
COMMISSION

Kt
Brent SNYDER

2019/20 EEEREREEE (BEE) fotE  2019/20 was a year full of accomplishments for the Competition Commission
W) —F o EEFEREZEN TEERESR despite major challenges for Hong Kong and the Commission’s work. The
FAHE  EREZEREKFIIRAT P Hf95m  Commission’s hard working and dedicated Members and staff overcame
R EEEREISFTERINELE » BIEHE both social unrest and pandemic to advance Commission work across the

RS

ERrerEiE  BEHENEESRESEEESA full range of its enforcement, policy and advocacy responsibilities.
BYTAE -

Bh EE¥EAE BEEREARMEEST  Touching first on enforcement, the Commission brought more enforcement

g BB T LR EMNEN LA TZEE actions last year than in all prior years combined and achieved a notable list
B TE—K of “firsts”in its work:

. HREXREAERE (BEE) ar8TEL . First Competition Tribunal (Tribunal) contravention findings and trial

FERERGBEERF victories;

. B rSHBE (REBRE IENS . First pecuniary penalty hearing (and, subsequently, imposition of first
) pecuniary penalties);

. BB ERINBEEE . First successful leniency application;

. F—ABHEEEMNE (BREHHE . First infringement notice (regarding IT sector cartel conduct); and
ROEGHETR) K

. B riESiE:E SR ERITIL) © . First commitments (regarding Online Travel Agents).

HBEHKZESE | 08 | Competition Commission
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CEO’s Statement

3

o BEREFNME=RRXGAEREHE 5 Additionally, the Commission brought three more cases to the Tribunal,
RERBEIEREANE « TR RYRE involving decorating contractor, IT and school textbook cartels, and
SHE  BoVIRehaEm R —IaEY i E RSt released a decision on an application for a competitor survey filed by the
ZIRVZA R ERSEEHHAT @ AR 2SR RAE pharmaceutical sector, concluding that the application failed to satisfy the
AR NREA MG AVIE M TG R E—1T economic efficiency exclusion to the First Conduct Rule.

BFEIZSb -

HEsEEEHEMNS RS BENE > HiF9AME  Despite the increasing pace of enforcement, the Commission continues to
BEAREAR  E—STIERNEZEZEEE  puttoolsin place to better detect, investigate and prosecute more matters,
17188 ~ AERER - Btk BERENRT S more efficiently. In that regard, the Commission has added forensic IT
FRIBEE - MIEFHBEBTR EHF5SIEHRAY  capability and is building its capacity to collect information and market
e - EEMERAGEETTE - S5RE MEET T ¥ intelligence to proactively detect contraventions. The Commission also
BERNEENE  I2HEEMRE®RZIAEE  significantly improved the incentives companies have to self-report cartel

RIS RAETANA YRS EE conduct and cooperate with its investigations by revising its leniency policy
T ERIEEIRMESE - SR EREEEY T{@  for undertakings to significantly clarify and enhance incentives under the
ANBEHE » Rk EEEENERTE framework, adding a leniency policy for individuals, adopting a Cooperation

4e (SERMBRIE) ¥ AMETEE  and Settlement Policy for undertakings that do not obtain leniency, and
BREZMSZHKT » NG THEEETE S publishing the methodology that it will follow in calculating the pecuniary
EofEAHRE  REELOEESHOHE—E | penalties it will recommend to the Tribunal. Taken together, | am confident
BEERERUTEAIEEE » fe A AR that the Commission now has a suite of enforcement policies that are
T RIEMAERER - transparent, predictable and greatly strengthen leniency and cooperation

A 7

incentives.

IRMNEESRME @ sSsZE S FEARMEEBEIF  With respect to its policy advisory functions, the Commission continued to
RAZHIEZER SR EEEERDT liaise closely with the Government and public bodies and provided advice
BRI AHRREREREHER - 8522553 on a wide range of public policies and initiatives that concern Hong Kong’s
BEBHAR S E B T458| » BELNX¥KEE  consumers and business community. It also issued a COVID-19 guidance
ZORETF BRI REDNT » ERAAEBUFRGE — statement to address possible questions and concerns by businesses
MEESHRENEREITHIESEFHES| I and consumers, and a subsequent guidance statement to participating
EE(PRIFLEE - NERBHES R IRE BT EE businesses and administrative bodies of subsidy programmes under the
HIBPREEFITA - Government’s Anti-Epidemic Fund, reminding them to stay vigilant and

strengthen defenses against possible anti-competitive conduct during the

procurement process.

EEEEEHE  BEXeEERNEZEBTRE With respect to its advocacy work, the Commission carried on its creative
RA #ENBASHEAHITASHE - approach to public education by engaging a broad and varied audience
2019 F 8 B EEeaE A RNPINEHELEE during the year. In August 2019, the Commission launched an advocacy
LEBEEEE > SRt E R FERIER N ES campaign leveraging on different outdoor and online platforms to

F17h TLOEEREASEIRFESAIEEERY  encourage the community to report suspected anti-competitive practices
SR o and to address common concerns that businesses and the public may have

in coming forward to file a complaint.

2019/2020 %R | 09 | Annual Report 2019/2020
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CEO’s Statement

HAZHEHERTTRSEERE  HEE
RERDEEEEEE BE REAREL
Made - BARMNOE RS - ZFIRELRT
H—WAVEE TR - MABRBEEHE (1F
o) - E—SREEDE -

TEFRER - BREERE - BFAMBEE
REEBHISEF > BERBTIHREE - HIt -
FEE 2019 F 8 AR T EE "HIFEH
FHEBMEE ) BEEDAXBNRBERIE
WIEAER  SRBMAERARBNTES A
WMUHNBERRER EHEXE -

MEMS > AFEEHEZEHICMAEN—
F - BREBRIBZEHAOEBRNETEK
BT T EEHE - ATROBRIBRERE
[EEEMIEERRE  HEGEERIMET
HIBEE - BZE T+ RIBHEREBERER
—HLURAZF -

FEZ B EEFEAMERTRAEZEE @ 1558
E—EERMEENTHE - RAROBHAX
T HEURBEREFERFEARREGREMH
EHBEXRER © FFF - TR EGDH
FTERKEREEFERE G RERR - WHIRF
HRTERRAE - HB/EL  BEERESR
HEERRE  HEEENF -

Despite the impact of social unrest and the COVID-19 outbreak, the
Commission still managed to remain engaged with its various stakeholders
through meetings, seminars, exhibitions and webinars. It also furthered
youth outreach by rolling out a new round of interactive workshops on the
Ordinance to secondary school students in Hong Kong.

Internationally, the Commission believes firmly in the benefits of competition
authorities and academics working together across borders. Toward this
end, the Commission organised its inaugural Competition Enforcers and
Academics Summit in August 2019, gathering distinguished scholars and
enforcers from across the Asia-Pacific region to discuss how academic
institutions and competition law enforcement agencies can mutually benefit
from effectively leveraging each other’s expertise and resources.

In sum, it was a busy and eventful year for the Commission. | would like to
express my deep gratitude to the Commission’s fantastic and talented staff
for their dedication in overcoming myriad challenges and for the guidance
and commitment of the current and previous Commission Members
in effectively discharging the Commission’s functions. The Commission
also appreciates the continuing support of the Commerce and Economic
Development Bureau.

This year marked the end of an era with the departure of our founding
Chairperson Ms. Anna Wu. The Commission is deeply grateful for her
immense contributions to the establishment and development of the Hong
Kong competition law regime and the Commission. We also are excited
to welcome and look forward to working closely with our new Chairman,
Mr. Samuel Chan, who will lead us forward. | am confident that good things
are in store for the Commission and for Hong Kong's consumers.

Ml M

TR
Rt

Brent SNYDER
Chief Executive Officer

#Z88 | 10 | Competition Commission



FEEE

Highlights of the Year

ik
ENFORCEMENT

WEIREIETY 674 Rixeh / & # 18 REXEIT T IS
Mk / AE

Received and processed 674 enforcement contacts; 18 cases
were escalated to the Initial Assessment / Investigation phases

P EBBRARETEEEM AR T ARMGPHEREZE
BsER - M EURAEH SIFRAR
Competition Tribunal ruled in favour of the Commission in

Hong Kong's first two competition cases and handed down its
first-ever judgment on penalty

BEROHTARHAZRFERBEAR AT TEER
FHERSE "N, EENECENRERS
Filed three cartel cases before the Competition Tribunal,

marking several “firsts” in Hong Kong’s competition law regime
including its first successful leniency application

BURE

ADVISORY

FAY 0 MARBE R EIABA R ALHBIRMR
REDERERRE BTN

Provided advice to the Government and public bodies on
around 30 public policies and initiatives with many suggestions
taken on board by the relevant authorities

MEFRENEEN LA ERALEERIER

Submitted views to the Legislative Council on the Government’s
proposed Franchised Taxi Scheme

EEEE
ADVOCACY

BT 70 ZHETRAFXES  BEZEBTEER

Conducted 70+ engagement events reaching different sectors
across the community

REZTEABEFEE  SRARBRRAIRNREF
Th

Launched a multi-pronged advocacy campaign to encourage
the reporting of suspected anti-competitive conduct

2019/2020 F 8, | 11

BABHESBEMNE

Issued the Commission’s first infringement notice

BRI IR AV AGE E1TEER - WM B RARGE - LU
BRERFEEE

Consulted on and accepted the first sets of commitments to
resolve competition concerns

MEETH—IEREMHERELATRE - RPZFETE
RFEAL B R R RN E — 1T AFRIZ S
Published a decision finding that a proposed pharmaceutical

sales survey is not excluded from the First Conduct Rule by
economic efficiency exclusion

RARREEERTERFFENGEETLERMAR
HMAERANEEREAE TR AN EEREHEE

Commissioned a comparative study of competition impact
assessment regimes in different jurisdictions, aiming to

recommend an appropriate framework for Hong Kong’s public
sector

MHAEERASEERRETEERESFNERE [
B mASRiEs

Issued a COVID-19 guidance statement to the business
community on short-term business collaborations

AARBRBERH TH—WEB T F

Rolled out a new wave of interactive workshops to secondary
school students in Hong Kong

By —phEMEE BEETAEBRFEREAER
BF&  Rmma(r
Hosted a regional summit gathering competition law enforcers

and academics in the Asia-Pacific region to explore ideas for
collaboration

Annual Report 2019/2020
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Competition Ordinance at a Glance

HETENRBIRRE

2015 F 12814 H

(ERFRM) ZEER] -

(fp) EERERFHERE  REEEER

(IR S FELEE

BERRNERFEER

BARTR -

BT BB EEST (1RA)

ENSURING A LEVEL-PLAYING FIELD

On 14 December 2015, the Competition Ordinance (Ordinance) came into
full effect. The Ordinance seeks to protect the process of competition,
and does so by making certain business practices which undermine this
process illegal.

o (3E51) ABRZERBAEHEERMARERNIT (EH) RHEH51E -
The Guidelines provide guidance on how the Commission and the Communications Authority intend to interpret and give effect to the provisions
of the Ordinance.

fvav4 A
P REE

Luﬂ%

BEER GEMRE) RiE (RA) BHTUT
ASVEELTI

ﬁ_

g_

(E—17hFRIFESD
(E=17AR<FRIFES)

(EBE<FRIFESI)

(IER#E51)

(A&

(1R1B (BRFEG]) 2 o8 RE 24 1& (88
frKEatR ) BRERELLEEE 15 EREE
PeEAtR A <151

1THFR

TRTARILEEBERFHAMITARRE

EEERT L BOIAROHANLHER
AT i E B NSRS

0% - PR FZBEHEUERRBHARRKE
BHF  ERMILE—1TATRIRERR -

With a view to helping businesses comply with the Ordinance, the
Commission and the Communications Authority (CA) have issued six
Guidelines under the Ordinance:

Guideline on the First Conduct Rule
Guideline on the Second Conduct Rule
Guideline on the Merger Rule
Guideline on Complaints

Guideline on Investigations

Guideline on Applications for a Decision under Sections 9 and 24
(Exclusions and Exemptions) and Section 15 Block Exemption Orders

First Conduct Rule

The First Conduct Rule (FCR) prohibits undertakings from making or giving
effect to agreements and decisions of associations of undertakings or
engaging in concerted practices that have the object or effect of harming
competition in Hong Kong. Where competitors agree to coordinate rather
than compete, this risks contravening the FCR.

HZ88 | 12 | Competition Commission
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Key points:

The Guideline on the First Conduct Rule provides detailed guidance
on a range of agreements and practices to enable businesses to self-
assess their behaviour and relationships so as to avoid contravening
the FCR.

The Ordinance designates four broad types of conduct as serious
anti-competitive conduct under the FCR, namely bid-rigging, price
fixing, market sharing and output restriction.

The FCR prohibits a range of other agreements which may be harmful
to competition but may not be serious anti-competitive conduct.
The Guideline on the First Conduct Rule provides detailed analysis of,
for example, the activities of trade associations and industry bodies,
certain forms of joint ventures, franchising agreements and various
distribution arrangements. These practices may be quite common
in a market and may often be pro-competitive but may, in certain
contexts, have the object or effect of preventing, restricting or
distorting competition.

Second Conduct Rule

Under the Second Conduct Rule (SCR), businesses with a substantial
degree of market power are prohibited from abusing that power by
engaging in conduct that has the object or effect of harming competition.
Such conduct may have the effect of excluding competitors from the
market, thereby limiting choices available to consumers. The Guideline on
the Second Conduct Rule provides detailed analysis of business practices
that are commonly associated with the SCR.

Merger Rule

Mergers that have or are likely to have the effect of substantially lessening
competition in Hong Kong are prohibited under the Ordinance. The scope
of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to mergers involving
an undertaking directly or indirectly holding a carrier licence issued under
the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106). Under the Memorandum of
Understanding signed between the Commission and the Communications
Authority, the CA will ordinarily take the role of lead authority on matters
which fall within the concurrent jurisdiction of the Commission and CA
under the Ordinance. Further details as to the application of the Merger
Rule are available in the Guideline on the Merger Rule.
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ENFORCING THE ORDINANCE

The Commission will exercise its discretion to direct its resources to the
investigation and resolution of matters that provide the greatest overall
benefit for Hong Kong’s businesses and consumers.

Institutional arrangements

The Ordinance adopts a judicial enforcement model to separate the powers
of investigation and enforcement (by the Commission) from those of
adjudication of alleged contraventions and imposition of penalties (by the
Tribunal). The Tribunal is empowered to impose a broad range of remedies
for contraventions of a competition rule, including pecuniary penalties and
director disqualifications. It also has jurisdiction to review certain types
of decisions made by the Commission and to hear “follow-on claims” for
damages by victims of anti-competitive behaviour.

Core principles in conducting and resolving investigations

The Guidelines on Complaints and Investigations provide guidance on how
the Commission will handle complaints and outline the procedural steps
and protections which apply in the investigation of a matter. Details on
the Commission’s core principles when investigating cases and prioritising
enforcement can be found in the Commission’s Enforcement Policy.

Remedies

After an investigation by the Commission, the Commission may conclude
that no further action is warranted. Alternatively, the Commission may:

Issue Warning Notices, Infringement Notices or accept Commitments
in response to conduct the Commission considers may contravene
the Ordinance;

Commence proceedings in the Tribunal; or

Refer the matter to a Government agency or conduct a market study.
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In proceedings, the Commission may seek remedies including a pecuniary
penalty of up to 10% of an undertaking’s annual Hong Kong turnover
per contravention for a maximum of three years during the course of the
contravention(s); orders requiring individuals to pay a pecuniary penalty or
disqualifying them from serving as director of a company; orders requiring
payment of damages to any person who has suffered loss or damage as
a result of the contravention; or other orders to cease and remedy the

contravention at issue.
Leniency and Cooperation

The Commission has established a Leniency Policy for Undertakings
Engaged in Cartel Conduct (Leniency Policy) which was enhanced in April
2020. In exchange for a cartel member’s cooperation, the Commission
will undertake not to commence any proceedings against the first cartel
member who reports cartel conduct to the Commission and enters into
a leniency agreement with the Commission. This includes not bringing
proceedings for a pecuniary penalty or for an order declaring that the
successful leniency applicant has contravened the Ordinance. The first
cartel member must either disclose its participation in a cartel of which
the Commission has not opened an initial assessment or investigation
and thereafter fully cooperate in the Commission’s investigation and
subsequent enforcement action, or provide substantial assistance to the
Commission’s investigation and subsequent enforcement action of a cartel

which the Commission is already assessing or investigating.

The Commission will extend this leniency to current officers and employees
of the cartel member and specifically named former officers or employees
and current and former agents of the cartel member who cooperate with
the Commission. Additionally, under the Commission’s new Leniency Policy
for Individuals Involved in Cartel Conduct, individuals involved in cartel
conduct, such as current or former employees of a company, can seek
leniency independent of the company.

Undertakings which do not benefit from leniency under the Commission’s
Leniency Policy can opt to cooperate with the Commission’s investigation
pursuant to the Commission’s Cooperation and Settlement Policy for
Undertakings Engaged in Cartel Conduct.
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EXEMPTIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

Schedule 1 to the Ordinance provides for a number of exclusions from
the FCR and SCR, including in respect of agreements enhancing overall
economic efficiency (FCR only), agreements or conduct undertaken in
order to comply with a legal requirement and agreements or conduct of
“lesser significance”.

Each of these exclusions applies automatically without the need for a prior
determination by the Commission. The Guidelines on the FCR and SCR
provide detailed guidance on the Commission’s interpretation of these

exclusions.

However, for increased legal certainty, undertakings can in certain
circumstances apply to the Commission for a decision as to whether an
agreement or conduct is exempt or excluded from the application of the
competition rules. In addition, the Commission can issue block exemption
orders to exempt a category of agreements from the FCR, either on the
application of an undertaking or on the initiative of the Commission itself.
Further details on the process for handling such applications are provided
in the Guideline on Applications for Decisions under Sections 9 and 24

(Exclusions and Exemptions) and Section 15 Block Exemption Orders.
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The Commission is committed to high standards of corporate governance in
conducting its duties in the best interest of the public and its stakeholders. It
strives to enhance the effectiveness of the management of the organisation,
ensure its accountability to the public and transparency of its operations
through the disclosure of appropriate information on its operation and
governance. The Commission abides by the Ordinance which governs
many aspects of its operations and the supporting functional committees.
It also adopts appropriate principles and best practices including control
mechanisms, codes of conduct and corporate governance arrangements
that are applicable to public bodies.

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS TO THE
COMMISSION

At the time of writing, the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR) has appointed Mr. Samuel Chan Ka-yan as
the new Chairman of the Commission for a term of two years from 1 May
2020. Mr. Chan succeeded Ms. Anna Wu Hung-yuk, who stepped down
after a seven-year chairmanship.

Four new Members were also appointed for the same term period,
including Professor Vincent Lau Kin-nang, Mr. Patrick Law Fu-yuen,
Mr. Jimmy Ng Wing-ka and Professor Anna Wong Wai-kwan.

Dr. Anthony William Seeto Yiu-wai, Professor Suen Wing-chuen and
Mr. Dennis Kwok Wing-hang stepped down as Members of the Commission
on 30 April 2020.

COMMISSION MEMBERS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2020)

The Commission exercises the functions as provided in the Ordinance. It
oversees the work of the executive arm of the Commission and approves
all major decisions. As at the end of March 2020, the Commission has 15
Members (including the Chairperson), who were appointed by the Chief
Executive of the HKSAR for a period of two years. Commission Members are
drawn from different fields, including those who have relevant expertise
and experience in industry, commerce, economics, law, SMEs, accounting,
finance and consumer protection.
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CHAIRPERSON
Ms. Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP

Ms. Anna Wu is a lawyer admitted to the Law Society's Roll
of Honour. She is the founding chair of the Competition
Commission. She stepped down as a member of the
Executive Council on 1 July 2017 having served since
January 2009. She was a member of the Legislative
Council and initiated the Equal Opportunities Bill, the
first private member’s bill covering a whole area of policy.
She previously chaired the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority, the Equal Opportunities Commission,
the Consumer Council and the Operations Review
Committee of the Independent Commission Against
Corruption. Ms. Wu was also a member of the Law Reform
Commission and the Hospital Authority and a Director of
the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited and the
Securities and Futures Commission. She is an honorary
fellow and honorary professor of the University of Hong
Kong and has recently joined its Law and Technology
Centre. She is also a global advisor of the University of
California, Los Angeles.

MEMBERS

Member, Chairperson of Enforcement
Committee

Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, JP

Mr. Samuel Chan is a practising barrister and has been
appointed to many advisory and statutory bodies. He
was former Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council and
Member of the Equal Opportunities Commission, and
currently serves as Non-Executive Director of the Insurance
Authority and Deputy Chairman of the Town Planning
Appeal Board. He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of
Arbitrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators.
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Member, Chairperson of Finance and
Administration Committee

Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai

Dr. Seeto is a telecommunications engineer by profession.
He is the Chairman of his own investment company
and the Director of IW Management Services Ltd.
Dr. Seeto is also a member of the Communications
Authority, Chairman of its Telecommunications Affairs
Committee, and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. He was an executive committee member of the
Communications Association of Hong Kong and the Hong
Kong IT Federation, a member of the Telecommunications
Users and Consumers Advisory Committee of the Office
of the Communications Authority and the Chairman of
the Technology Committee of the Australian Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong and Macau.

Member, Chairperson of Staff Committee

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP

Mr. Michael Hui is the Managing Director of Freedom
Industrial Corporation Ltd. He is the Vice President of the
Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’ Association,
Chairman of the Small and Medium Enterprises Committee
and the Import and Export Industry Training Advisory
Committee, Council member of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council, and a member of the Programme
Management Committee of the Dedicated Fund on
Branding, Upgrading and Domestic Sales (BUD Fund)
(Enterprises Support Programme). Mr. Hui was the
Chairman of the Hong Kong United Youth Association,
Central Policy Unit’s Part-time Member, Council member
of the Hong Kong Baptist University and member of
the Greater Pearl| River Delta Business Council, the West
Kowloon Cultural District Authority Consultation Panel, the
Harbour Front Enhancement Committee and the Hong
Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation Advisory Board.
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Prof. K. C. CHAN, GBS, JP

Prof. K. C. Chan is Adjunct Professor and Senior Advisor
to the Dean at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (HKUST) Business School. He was appointed
as the Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region from July 2007 to June 2017. Prior to that, he was
Dean of Business and Management in the HKUST. Before
joining the HKUST Business School in 1993, Prof. Chan had
spent nine years teaching at Ohio State University in the
United States.

Prof. Chan received his bachelor's degree in economics
from Wesleyan University and his M.B.A. and Ph.D. in
finance from the University of Chicago. He specialised in
assets pricing, evaluation of trading strategies and market
efficiency and has published numerous articles on these
topics.

Prof. Chan held a number of public service positions
including Chairman of the Consumer Council, Director
of the Hong Kong Futures Exchange, and Member of the
Commission on Strategic Development, Commission on
Poverty, the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee, the
Hang Seng Index Advisory Committee, and the Hong
Kong Council for Academic Accreditation. He was former
President of the Asian Finance Association and President of
Association of Asia Pacific Business Schools.

Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan

Ms. Jennifer Chan is Chairman of DT Capital Ltd. She also
holds advisory positions in various institutions. At present,
she is one of the General Committee members of the
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce as well as
Chairman of their Europe Committee. As recognition of her
achievements, Ms. Chan has received numerous awards
in Mainland China, Hong Kong and the Netherlands,
amongst which she was selected as one of “China’s 100
Outstanding Female Entrepreneurs”in 2010.
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Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming

Mr. Joe Chau is the Managing Director of Reer Garment
Manufactory Limited and Reer Asia Limited. He is the
President of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small
and Medium Business and member of the Small and
Medium Enterprises (SMEs) Committee of Trade and
Industry Department. He is also Co-opted member of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries and member of SMEs'
Manufacturing Partnership and Investment Task Force of
Hong Kong Trade Development Council (HKTDC) Belt and
Road & Greater Bay Area Committee. Mr. Chau was the
Vice-Chairman of the Import/Export/Wholesale Trades
Training Board of Vocational Training Council and member
of the HKTDC Garment Advisory Committee.

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP

Mr. Kwok Kwok-chuen is the Director of the AsiaGlobal
Fellows Program of the Asia Global Institute, and an
Honorary Senior Research Fellow at the Faculty of Business
and Economics of the University of Hong Kong. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Maritime and Port Board, the
Aviation Development and Third-runway System Advisory
Committee, and an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Sunevision Holdings Ltd. and DBS Bank (Hong Kong)
Ltd. Mr. Kwok was the Government Economist for the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region and the Regional Chief Economist for East Asia of
Standard Chartered Bank.
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Mr. Dennis KWOK Wing-hang

Mr. Dennis Kwok is a member of the Legislative Council
representing the legal profession in Hong Kong. He was
elected in 2012 and then re-elected in 2016. He is currently
the Executive Committee Member (Party Development) of
the Civic Party. Mr. Kwok is a founding member of the Civic
Party, The Professional Commons (a think-tank on public
policies) and The Professionals Guild (an alliance formed
among functional constituency Members in the Legislative
Council). He was also a non-executive director (non-official)
on the Board of the Urban Renewal Authority from 2012
to 2016, a non-official member of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority from 2015 to 2020, and a non-executive director
of the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited from
2016 to 2020.

Mr. Kwok graduated from King's College London in 1999
where he received his LLB. He was admitted as a solicitor
in the High Court of Hong Kong in 2002 and to the Roll
of Solicitors of England and Wales in 2003. He was called
to the Hong Kong Bar in 2006. Mr. Kwok was trained and
worked as a solicitor at an international law firm Herbert
Smith for five years. His current practice as a barrister
focuses on civil cases, international arbitration and judicial
review.

Ms. Rachel LAM Yan-kay, SC

Ms. Rachel Lam SC is a practising barrister, focusing on
insolvency matters, company and commercial litigation,
and securities law. She is qualified in three jurisdictions —
Hong Kong, England & Wales, and New York State - and
has practised in Hong Kong since 2005. She serves on
the Committee on Companies Law of the Hong Kong Bar
Association. She is also a contributing author on a number
of practitioner’s texts in company law and litigation. In
addition to her practice as a barrister, she is a member and
part of the Executive Committee of Invenio Foundation
Limited, a charitable foundation whose primary purpose is
to support students in their education.
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Mr. Alan LUI Siu-lun

Mr. Alan Lui is now Chief Marketing Officer with Fusion
Bank. He is currently a member of the Hong Kong Housing
Authority, Trade and Industry Advisory Board, Consumer
Council and Competition Commission. Mr. Lui is also
a member of the Standing Committee on Disciplined
Services Salaries and Conditions of Service.

Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat

Mr. Roy Ng graduated from University of California,
Berkeley. He began his retail career in San Francisco,
and has accumulated 30 years of retail management
experience. With his international background, Mr. Ng
has led multi-national retail groups and developed
brands covering international and Asia Pacific markets.
He was awarded the Corporate Governance Award
by the Chief Secretary for Administration of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. Other retail
awards include: The Service for Excellence Award for
retail business achievement; The Hong Kong Retail
Management Association Customer Service Award; The
Best Turnaround Award for warehouse and logistics
operation improvement; The Best Customer Service Award
in the skincare and cosmetics industry. At present, Mr. Ng's
businesses encompass retail, technology and medicine.

Prof. SUEN Wing-chuen

Prof. Suen graduated from the University of Hong Kong,
and went on to obtain his doctorate degree from the
University of Washington. After completing post-doctoral
research at the University of Chicago, Prof. Suen returned
to his alma mater in 1989, and currently holds the position
of Chair of Economics at the Faculty of Business and
Economics. He has also held research or teaching positions
at Simon Fraser University, Harvard University and the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prof. Suen has published
two books and more than forty academic papers. He is
an associate editor of two journals - the Pacific Economic
Review and Economics E-Journal — and is the programme
leader of the Human Resources Research Programme
of the Hong Kong Institute of Economics and Business
Strategy.
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Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP

Ms. Sandy Wong is a consultant at Liau, Ho & Chan, and
former consultant and Head of Legal of Maxim's Caterers
Limited. She is the Past President of Hong Kong Federation
of Women Lawyers and current Chair of its Women'’s Rights
Committee, Anti-Human Trafficking Committee, Co-
chair of Law Reform Committee and Charity Committee.
She is advisor to The Alumni Association of the School of
Law of the City University of Hong Kong and Institute of
Active Ageing of Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She
is a director of Legal Education Trust. She is a member of
Social Enterprise Advisory Committee, Town Planning
Board, Steering Committee on Review of the Regulation of
Private Healthcare Facilities, Audit Committee of the West
Kowloon Cultural District Authority, the Chinese Medicine
Practitioners Board, Hong Kong Council on Smoking and
Health, a Council and Court member of Hong Kong Baptist
University, and Chairman of Human Organ Transplant
Board.

Mr. Tony YUNG Kam-fai

Mr. Tony Yung is a biotechnology practitioner and
entrepreneur in Hong Kong. He received his biotechnology
education in the Chinese University of Hong Kong and
the Prince of Wales Hospital, specialising in genetics
and cancer research. He has extensive experience in
technology business investment, medical product
development and technology licensing in the Greater
China region. He was the General Manager of Xcelom, a
family care biotechnology company in the Hong Kong
Science Park. He was also the Co-founder and former CEO
of Sanomics, a cancer management company. Mr. Yung
has also served in GRAIL, Inc., a US-based biotechnology
company, as Managing Director of Asia Business and
Market Development. Mr. Yung is currently CEO of Take2
Health Ltd. He is also the Director of Oxford Venture Capital
(Greater China) Limited and Luxagain Technology Limited,
and a Fellow of the Hong Kong College of Health Service
Executives.
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FUNCTIONAL COMMITTEES

Enforcement Committee

The Enforcement Committee (EC) exercises a number of functions in relation
to the investigation of conduct that may contravene the conduct rules in the
Ordinance and applications for a Commission decision.

Membership list (as at 31 March 2020)

Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, JP (Chairperson)
Prof. K. C. CHAN, GBS, JP

Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan

Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming

Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen, BBS, JP

Mr. Dennis KWOK Wing-hang

Ms. Rachel LAM Yan-kay SC

Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP

Ms. Anna WU Hung-yuk, GBS, JP

Finance and Administration Committee

The Finance and Administration Committee (FAC) formulates principles and
guidelines governing financial and administrative matters, including financial
management control, accounting procedures and general administration

management.

Membership list (as at 31 March 2020)

Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai (Chairperson)
Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan

Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming

Mr. Alan LUI Siu-lun

Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP

Staff Committee

The Staff Committee (SC) formulates principles and guidelines governing
human resources management matters, including recruiting staff to the

executive arm of the Commission and staff management.

Membership list (as at 31 March 2020)

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP (Chairperson)
Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, JP

Mr. Dennis KWOK Wing-hang

Prof. SUEN Wing-chuen
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BEEREETEE COMMISSION AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

HRERBEEERN BZXEZME T 10085 o % Intheyear under review, a total of 10 Commission meetings were convened.
T BB RITHEESEMAZEEZEE® » /58]  The EC, FACand SC convened 4, 3 and 2 meetings respectively. Attendance
BET AR 3 XR2AEE BREENHE records of Members are shown as follows:

ACERTIRANTE -
RRENEEOgERLERR Attendance Record of Competition Commission Meetings
20195F4HE20205F38 (H#£10°REH#)  April 2019 to March 2020 (10 meetings)
74= HERE
Member No. of times present
AT Rzt Ms Anna WU Hung-yuk 10
BRI DEHIR Prof K.C. CHAN 8
PR BR S A Mr Samuel CHAN Ka-yan 9
B E 22+ Ms Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan
HEARSEE Mr Joe CHAU Kwok-ming 10
SFEGEYE Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit 9
G e Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen 9
SRERESE Mr Dennis KWOK Wing-hang 5
MARIHZ £ Ms Rachel LAM Yan-kay 8
BRI E Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun 4
RgERE Mr Roy NG Chun-tat 8
RITEBIEIE L Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai 10
BRI REITE Prof SUEN Wing-chuen 10
BEERRL Ms Sandy WONG Hang-yee 9
SiRrELE Mr Tony YUNG Kam-fai 9
WEREEERLEKEG Attendance Record of Enforcement Committee Meetings
201954 E2020538 (HaXBH) April 2019 to March 2020 (4 meetings)
571~} HERE
Member No. of times present
FRZE% St Mr Samuel CHAN Ka-yan 4
BRI DEHUR Prof K.C. CHAN 2
FR{mE 2+ Ms Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan 4
HEIRAESE Mr Joe CHAU Kwok-ming 3
HEIZKE Mr KWOK Kwok-chuen 3
g e Mr Dennis KWOK Wing-hang 3
MiHZ £ Ms Rachel LAM Yan-kay 2
BEERTL Ms Sandy WONG Hang-yee 4
HRLER L Ms Anna WU Hung-yuk 4
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HERITHEETERL LR

Attendance Record of Finance and Administration

20195F4B = 202053H Committee Meetings
(H3xEH®E) April 2019 to March 2020 (3 meetings)
157 -] HERE
Member No. of times present
REREE L Dr Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai 3
FRfAE 2+ Ms Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan 3
BEIARSEYE Mr Joe CHAU Kwok-ming 3
BAABTE Mr Alan LUI Siu-lun 2
EEBZT Ms Sandy WONG Hang-yee 2
ASEEEEHLBRKEG Attendance Record of Staff Committee Meetings
20195F4 A E 20205 3R (H2RE:H) April 2019 to March 2020 (2 meetings)
1574 -] HERE
Member No. of times present
STEGRRE Mr Michael HUI Wah-kit 2
PR B S A Mr Samuel CHAN Ka-yan 2
ElF e Mr Dennis KWOK Wing-hang 2
BRIk REIR Prof SUEN Wing-chuen 2
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TRANSPARENCY TO THE COMMUNITY

The Commission considers transparency a foundation of good corporate
governance and has taken an open approach to disclosing information
about its operations. The Commission endeavours to maintain interactive
communication with the public and stakeholders by providing timely and
appropriate information through various channels including media briefings,
press releases, annual reports, formal announcements and the Commission’s

bilingual website (www.compcomm.hk).

The Commission’s website presents a comprehensive platform to provide
local and overseas visitors with first-hand information, including the
Ordinance and Guidelines, various policies and operational documents, press
releases and publications, consultation submissions and representations,
educational materials as well as other news and activities. Enforcement
updates such as current cases in the Tribunal, status of applications received
and the Commission’s decisions are also available on its website. Members of
the public can sign up for email alerts to receive current information on the
Commission’s activities and developments.

To handle the increasing number of enquiries and complaints from business
and the general public more effectively and efficiently, general enquiries
regarding the Ordinance and the Commission’s work as well as complaints
on local competition issues are streamlined by a contact centre with a
designated telephone hotline and an email account. A total of 847 general
enquiries were received during the year under review.

MPBIHKZTEES | 28 | Competition Commission



Corporate Governance

B P R
BT EIE

BREEBEAEBRETEHNE - AERARH
ERKBEMEMENRE  BEE2EBUNE
FI  JREHIE RAMIFBUF B RIMUE - §IE
T BRI EEIREIE - MBUTRBRRER

8 TITHERBHRES R ) TR BERRIL TE

N 0
BHEZE o

mEEH

B FERRZE > REEEREER
ERARIFIEFERIEE  EHTEE
AT B FE AR ERMBMRRIRL(E - 78
HEREBAECMBRITHIZEEEME
BRHmEEE FREXRFENNXAREHE
BRTBUSHE - ESETRBRIZAZEIT
BHMAXTRE  LEEEREAMIAAMH
A - BEETTHERRE - BATEEEMN
HNERERARINAE LHRE - HBREEE
IR AR -

R RSB

PEESENNERGE - REVEZAR A
RBER KRR - TEEEMENMUGT S ER
FE > ARANEZFRAMITE - REET
RBTRERMSIRAVRIBETRRBMRRER - 15
Bl LUREHHE - BR T EEEITIRRBELUMER
MHEABE RIZFSLLEFIN - IRE BRI RR 2
BEFTHERFHFBEESREREE - B
ERBEEERIEEMBEE  EREEFE
AMBRITHEEE - REFFARETRR
FEAFSHROAR R |

2019/2020 F#, | 29

CONTROL MECHANISMS

Financial Control

As a statutory body supported by Government subvention, the Commission
adopts a stringent financial control system with reference to that of the
Government and other statutory bodies as well as non-governmental
organisations of similar nature to ensure the public money is being used
in accordance with the value for money principle. The Memorandum of
Administrative Arrangement signed between the Government and the

Commission also provides a governing framework for financial matters.
Budgetary Control

Before the start of a financial year, the Commission prepares the annual
budget on expenditures in conjunction with the business plan which sets
forth the objectives to be achieved and actions to be taken in the planning
year. The budget and business plan are reviewed and endorsed by the
FAC before submission to the Commission for approval. The estimates of
income and expenditure for the budget year will then be submitted to
the Government for approval. Procurement is made after confirmation of
availability of funds with reference to the approved expenditure budget.
Management reports outlining budget utilisation and analysing budget
variances are prepared regularly for the Commission’s review and decision

making.
Procurement and Expenditure Control

The Commission adopts stringent financial and procurement policies and
procedures of the Government with appropriate modifications to suit its
practical needs while leaving the underlying control principles intact. Clear
procedures, guidelines and approval authorities are set for the procurement
of different types and amounts of expenditure. Compliance check is
performed periodically to ensure relevant policies and procedures are
being followed. Regular reports on expenditures are prepared for on-going
monitoring and resource management by the executive team. To ensure
proper scrutiny is exercised by the Commission, a “Summary of Financial
Position” is submitted to the FAC quarterly and the Commission semi-
annually.
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Investment Control

The Commission follows guidelines approved by the Financial Secretary for
managing its investment of funds not immediately required. The objectives,
strategies, governance structure and policies and procedures on investment
of funds are clearly documented with periodic review and update. The
Commission maintains close monitoring of investment activities through
approving all investment proposals and reviewing the “Report on Investment
Activities” which is prepared on a half-yearly basis.

Internal Control

To safeguard assets and ensure compliance with the Ordinance and other
statutory requirements, the Commission needs an internal control system
which is efficient, effective and well-understood by Commission members
and staff. Appropriate checks and balances are incorporated in the rules,
policies and procedures on daily operating activities. Briefings, on-the-job
training and regular updates on rules and practices are provided to staff
members to ensure they understand their respective authorities, roles and
responsibilities.

External Checks and Balances

The financial statements of the Commission are subject to audit by an
external auditor which is not engaged in any other non-audit services for the
Commission. A formal invitation for quotation and proposal for the audit was
conducted in 2019/20. KPMG was appointed as the Commission’s external
auditor for auditing the financial statements for the three years ended 31
March 2020, 2021 and 2022.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND GUIDE ON CONDUCT

To safeguard the public interest and ensure accountability as well as to
uphold integrity and impartiality, the Commission has a Code of Conduct for
Commission/Committee Members and a Guide on Conduct (Guide) for staff
which set out, inter alia, the prohibition of solicitation, acceptance or offering
of advantages, the avoidance of conflict of interests through disclosure of
interests, and the duty to preserve confidentiality.
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With respect to Commission Members, the Commission maintains a register
of their declared interests including the pecuniary and personal interests in
respect of their directorships and shareholdings in companies, remunerated
employment, ownership of property or land, and memberships on boards of
organisations engaged in economic activities in or relevant to Hong Kong.
The register is available for public inspection on the Commission’s website
and at the office of the Commission. In addition to a mandatory update at
the beginning of the year, the register is updated from time to time based
on notifications by respective Members. In accordance with the procedural
requirements of the Ordinance and the Rule of Procedure of the Competition
Commission, when Members are asked to consider or decide on a specific
matter, they will conduct conflict checks for that matter in order to make
relevant disclosures and, where appropriate, abstain from voting or recuse
themselves from the discussion.

The Commission is committed to engaging, attracting and retaining a
high quality workforce with strong professional standards and integrity.
The Commission has a Guide for staff which aims to promote high ethical
standards and integrity in the discharge of duties. The Guide sets out the
fundamental principles of professional conduct and expected standard of
behaviour and reminds staff of their legal and contractual obligations to the
Commission. It also provides disciplinary rules and detailed guidelines on
various issues, such as the prevention of bribery and corruption, dealings
with suppliers/service providers, handling of offers of advantages, etc.

Staff are also required to make declarations of investment and outside work
on an annual basis and conduct conflict checks before they are involved in
enforcement matters. Where necessary, the Commission arranges with other
agencies to provide briefing sessions to staff on laws and regulations as well
as corporate governance concepts and practices that are relevant to how
they conduct themselves and the way they carry out their duties.
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ENFORCEMENT

Investigations and complaints

One of the key functions of the Commission is to enforce the Ordinance to
deter anti-competitive conduct. The Commission relies on complaints and
queries from individuals or businesses to identify possible contraventions
of the Ordinance. Any person can contact the Commission by telephone,
e-mail, posts, by completing an online form on the Commission’s website or

in person at the Commission’s office by appointment.

The Commission may also initiate investigations based on information from
other sources, such as the Commission’s own research, market intelligence
gathered, the Commission’s other processes and investigations, or referrals
from Government departments or other authorities.

Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, the Commission received a total of
674 enforcement contacts, and the accumulated enforcement contacts since
full commencement of the Ordinance in December 2015 to the end of March
2020 was 4,277. The majority of these contacts were related to the First
Conduct Rule, with cartel conduct, resale price maintenance and exchange
of information being the major concerns. For the Second Conduct Rule, the
main issues raised were exclusive dealing as well as tying and bundling.

Figure 1: Enforcement Contacts - nature of alleged conduct’

Enforcement Contacts (1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020): 674

E—1TATH First Conduct Rule —{TAFRI Second Conduct Rule

HiETA’ Cartel Conduct’ 136 | HBERIRHEEE  Tying and Bundling 23
SICEHEEE Resale Price Maintenance 126 | BRIH Exclusive Dealing 37
TRER Exchange of Information’ 21 | RS Refusal to Deal 19
BRT5 Exclusive Dealing 4 | IFEMTEE Predation 9
Hib Others 24 | Hith Others 25
Hith Others

—REEEE AR General State of Competition 102  BA{TASFHIMREE®  Notrelated to a Conduct Rule* 206

. BREEGIREE R ZTERGFEFTRAVIEEE

2. BHTTRIEAL ARG A LA FHIE TS EREZ /AR
175 RACHAME + LIKMEEERENE L% R
2 B B EIE S LU HE ~ RAIEN M E & B9 F R E
H9Z 58] » 38 BIET IR BN FHIBUBE N » BIAIR
B EREATAT BIR9ERS B AT BIRTIE RS -

3. TR EHRITRIIZREN

4. B2 (1&f)) SBIHIIRER / B 0 RILIFIEFRRETSERE

HIRRERFEFITH °

1. Each case may involve allegations of multiple types of anti-competitive conduct.

2. Cartel conduct refers to agreements and concerted practices, among undertakings that are,
or otherwise would be if not for the cartel conduct, in competition with each other that seek
to fix prices, share markets, restrict output or rig bids, which have as their object preventing,
restricting or distorting competition in Hong Kong. This includes exchange of competitively
sensitive information, such as an undertaking’s planned prices or planned pricing strategy.

3. Information exchange not amounting to cartel conduct.

4. The contact was unrelated to the Ordinance and not an allegation of specific anti-competitive
conduct by an undertaking.

Competition Commission
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FaNfE ($BER3ER|) ~ (BEIEE|Y B (Hi;EH  As set out in its Guideline on Complaints, Guideline on Investigations and
&Y higH » ssZ e EEMINBINSERIEER  Enforcement Policy, the Commission considers all complaints and queries it
BEH#H  UINEEE—FSTENERIEAZEY)  receives and escalates those matters which warrant further assessment to an

SHET(EREED o Initial Assessment phase.

2019 F 4 B 1 HZE 2020 & 3 A 31 HEIR > Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, the Commission escalated 18
HE 18 FEEATS TG R / hAEmk cases either to the Initial Assessment and/or Investigation phases for further
B EE—SHEE o investigation.

BX_ r EEPMNYTPHEHRIAEMEE Figure 2: Ongoing Initial Assessment and Investigation cases
— WIBERTRAZITHHME’ - nature of alleged conduct’

N ERAEMESR ( 2019F481HZE20205F Initial Assessment and Investigation cases (1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020)
38318)

60
53
50
40
30
20 e - SN
10
0 - - ’
SE—TTRTAI F—TTATA E—ITHATH EZITATR Hith
HETA TE RS Hith Second Others
First Conduct Rule: First Conduct Rule: First Conduct Rule: Conduct Rule
Cartel Conduct Resale Price Others

Maintenance

RIE (HEHE) SsZeSBLRIES R In accordance with its Enforcement Policy, the Commission accords priority to

T—ESZETANER : 5% &N "F— cases which involve one or more of the following types of conduct: cartels,
17AFH|, TREEEREEFNEMIBE - other agreements contravening the First Conduct Rule causing significant
D EEEHBER2HEEERAEERETS#SE harm to competition in Hong Kong, and abuses of substantial market power
HERR SR 1T A © involving exclusionary behaviour by incumbents.

EreSTMBRAEEE ) EEERESE The Commission has carefully considered all cases with an aim to focusing

BENBERT @ SsZessTeestymE on enforcement actions against contraventions causing significant harm to
BERBEIAEETE competition in Hong Kong having regard to its available resources.

5 BREXIYAIEES R ZIER S5 FITER51E o 5. Each case may involve allegations of multiple types of anti-competitive conduct.
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Government Services
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Pet Health, Grooming & Other Products & Se
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Professional & Technical Services

As set out in Figure 3, these ongoing Initial Assessment and Investigation
cases involve a variety of sectors across the Hong Kong economy.

Figure 3: Sectors involved in ongoing Initial Assessment
and Investigation cases
(1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020)°
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The Commission will proceed to the Investigation Phase only where it
has reasonable cause to suspect a contravention of a conduct rule. It may
gather evidence using its information gathering powers under Part 3 of the
Ordinance.

Between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, the Commission made substantial
use of its compulsory powers on document and information gathering where
necessary to require relevant parties to provide documents and information
and/or to give evidence before the Commission pursuant to Sections 41 and
42 of the Ordinance. It also obtained search warrants to enter and search
specific premises under section 48 of the Ordinance. In response, relevant
persons generally showed high level of cooperation and complied with the
Commission’s evidence gathering requests or requirements.

6. Each case may involve multiple industry sectors.

Competition Commission
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SEEM R LEE4MNER Judgments in Hong Kong'’s first two competition cases

2019F 5817 H ' B8EMEEERES R On 17 May 2019, the Tribunal handed down judgments in Hong Kong's first
B MATHERASEEEBSIEREM/E  two competition cases’ involving bid-rigging, market sharing and price
HEt  c BEESTEESEIMaRAMRE  fixing. The Tribunal ruled in favour of the Commission and found that 14 of
BRscR ) 15 BEEAG o 14 BEETE the 15 respondents in these proceedings had contravened the Ordinance’s

CIEFY TE T#E—17A<P8, - BEHEME First Conduct Rule. The Tribunal’s judgments serve as important early legal
R TTEEMNRHEIEG > AsREe AT precedents that provide guidance for the Commission’s work as well as for

1 D RAEBRREER {24485 o the business and legal communities.
PRFHEEFHFEES T ¥f Nutanix Hong Kong Competition Commission v. Nutanix Hong Kong Limited and Others
Limited BEfth (CTEA 1/2017) (CTEA 1/2017)

EE—ZXH BREESTHURZLEME  Inits judgment in the first case, the Tribunal found four respondent
#1452 8 > B Nutanix Hong Kong Limited ~ BT information technology (IT) companies, namely Nutanix Hong Kong Limited,
Hong Kong Limited * Innovix Distribution Limited BT Hong Kong Limited, Innovix Distribution Limited and Tech-21 Systems
B 21 RiEERAR  (LE=EE1TA » &Kk Limited, liable for contravening the First Conduct Rule by engaging in bid-
T TE—17ASFE] 2 FHBEEERF  BEA rigging®. The bid-rigging involved the companies colluding to submit non-
AIEEBEBHLESEE (YWCA) FitfERZ  genuine bids in response to a tender for the supply and installation of a new
GRS R FTETI— XIBi&EF » 43¢ [T system for the Hong Kong Young Women'’s Christian Association (YWCA).

R EREE -

PEEHE RS w U KBS EEEIR Competition Commission v. W. Hing Construction Company Limited and
REBHEM (CTEA 2/2017) Others (CTEA 2/2017)

EE_=xHud ) BERERESTEIHREZEN In its judgment in the second case, the Tribunal found all ten respondent
SEEEETE  (FASEEEALBERIRE decoration contractors liable for contravening the First Conduct Rule by
HfEE —HRIR ML 2B R F5RE - N ThIBREETE engaging in market sharing and price fixing in relation to the provision of
18 &R "E£—TEH| | - SEREEIT renovation services at Phase 1 of On Tat Estate, a public rental housing estate
YEE—H =B ABHNEEAED SR in Kwun Tong, Kowloon. The contractors had allocated between themselves
MEEOaTRENESTERE  HES/ERJE  designated floors in each of the three buildings at Phase 1 of the Estate. They
BT (EERYZEMHNAS > EhEaRazl had also jointly produced and distributed a promotional flyer to tenants who
— IR EBEEEEH - BEAREE  BEED lived on the Estate that set out the package prices for the decoration services.
L EEHE RS SR - At the time of writing, the Tribunal had handed down its first-ever judgment
on pecuniary penalties in this case’.

7. MEEMDRBEEES AR F&F - 7. Both cases are under appeal by certain of the respondents.

8. HE—EAGIESERGER (1£H) - 8. One company was found not to have contravened the Ordinance.

9. BEER 2020 £ 4 F 29 AIEHIS &4 pESEZ+E 9. On 29 April 2020, the Tribunal handed down its judgment on pecuniary penalties, ordering seven
R E AR AT (1E6) FalHERIS 2 R - out of the ten contractors to pay the maximum fines allowable under the Ordinance. All of the
IESh o BRI IGAS (15 &1 BRI E/EFEF L) contractors were also made to pay the Commission’s costs of these proceedings.

B o
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Other cases before the Competition Tribunal

Competition Commission v. Kam Kwong Engineering Company Limited
and Others (CTEA 1/2018)

The Commission commenced its third proceedings in the Tribunal on 6
September 2018 against three decoration contractors and two individuals.
The Commission alleges that the parties have contravened the First Conduct
Rule of the Ordinance by making and giving effect to a market sharing
agreement and a price fixing agreement, and/or engaging in concerted
practices of the same nature, in relation to the provision of renovation
services at King Tai Court, a subsidised housing estate in San Po Kong,
Kowloon. At the time of writing, the Tribunal had issued the reasons for its
decision to have the case resolved summarily by consent against three of the
five respondents'®. The Tribunal issued declarations that these parties had
contravened or been involved in the contravention of the First Conduct Rule.
The Commission has made recommendations on the three parties’ sanctions
to the Tribunal in July 2020 and a decision is expected to be handed down.

Competition Commission v. Fungs E & M Engineering Company Limited
and Others (CTEA 1/2019)

On 3 July 2019, the Commission commenced proceedings in the Tribunal
against six decoration contractors and three individuals. The Commission
alleged that the parties have contravened the First Conduct Rule of the
Ordinance by making and giving effect to a market sharing agreement and a
price fixing agreement, and/or engaging in concerted practices of the same
nature, in relation to the provision of renovation services at Phase 1 of On
Tai Estate, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, a public housing estate developed by the
Hong Kong Housing Authority. This is the third case of similar nature brought
to the Tribunal, an indication that such practices have been prevalent in the
sector. The Commission has sought remedies including pecuniary penalties,
a declaration that each party has contravened the First Conduct Rule, and a
director disqualification order against one individual. The case has been set
down by the Tribunal for trial in March 2021.

10. The remaining two respondents in the case also sought to settle the allegations by admitting
liability in August 2020 and a hearing on penalties is set in late September 2020.
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PEHEFEE S = ¥f Quantr Limited & Competition Commission v. Quantr Limited and Cheung Man Kit
REHE (CTEA 1/2020) (CTEA 1/2020)

2000F 1 A2 B ssZxeaEERERAENR  On 22 January 2020, the Commission commenced proceedings in the
/A B Quantr Limited R EEEEM 572 F2  Tribunal against IT company Quantr Limited and its director for exchanging
% S IEREEFARLTR 2017 FAIF competitively sensitive information with a co-bidder regarding their
BRI R MEITH— B &Eh » iR — intended quotations in a bidding exercise for the procurement of IT services
ZIEE S SRS hSRERER organised by the Ocean Park Corporation in 2017. The Commission has
WY EBEANERER c BERERBREE sought remedies including pecuniary penalties, a declaration that each party
HEREGIEENSISH s ST 8% HENR has contravened the First Conduct Rule, a director disqualification order and
T TE—1TASE| ~ SHECHEESEMKS L. an order that Quantr adopt certain compliance measures. An infringement
K184 Quantr ZBIREVE F &8 HE o L4} - notice was issued to another company that participated in the same cartel
ERENEBETE—&5HETANE—BAT which has committed to taking steps to strengthen compliance measures.
BHESENE  ZAROEEREITEINEGR  These were the Commission’s first proceedings resulting from a successful

St c EREEEEE R ENESHENA leniency application and also its first time to make use of an infringement
BEZ FEHEREEMESEMER  noticeasaremedy.
WRITE -

BEHERENRES = U XFITEEERAG] Competition Commission v. T.H. Lee Book Company Limited and Others
REM (CTEA 2/2020) (CTEA 2/2020)

2000F 3820 ' BEEEEERRA=BH On 20 March 2020, the Commission commenced proceedings in the Tribunal

REHERE—2EAMNATEREREIER - 88 against three textbook suppliers and one individual. The Commission
ZEEEEZ-HARTERASER/ BB e alleges that the three companies have contravened the First Conduct Rule
HRIEHR - BIBASETE - HDHiEE /8 of the Ordinance by engaging in price-fixing, market sharing and/or bid-
BlE - BRT (EFH)Y T TE—1T7ESFE( - rigging in relation to the sale of textbooks to students attending primary and
MRS HLHIETE (&G)) 2ZEmAEMATFT  secondary schools in Hong Kong. Although the cartel arrangements were
ST 0 MEERAT R (UEE)Y 2 EAERE {3  arrived at prior to the full implementation of the Ordinance, the companies
IRIBIEH T ERARHE - ARXBE—{E1833a0Ht  had continued to give effect to the cartel arrangements after the Ordinance
7 BRZEEMMEATNITE  MEHE  cameinto effect. This case is notable also because it is the first in which the
BARATMEEHNEATER SRS T - 88F®  Commission seeks to hold a parent company liable for the acts of a subsidiary
(EHEREERIETS T BESAER (EGH) - over which it exercised decisive control. Declaration of contravention, order

TBETEME I REEHICEEEEIRS o for pecuniary penalties and a director disqualification were sought by the
Commission.
AE "EEi5E8HEE, Investigation into the “Hong Kong Seaport Alliance”

IR EEISEaL ing - IR EEMREIBMEZE  Four container terminal operators, namely Hongkong International Terminals
BHIRAT - BREBEESREAR » s - Limited, Modern Terminals Limited, COSCO-HIT Terminals (Hong Kong)
MEIEESE (F8) BRATIREMNEEIEIE  Limited and Asia Container Terminals Limited, have agreed and announced
BRAT b AELSHER FT&E8 580 the formation of the “Hong Kong Seaport Alliance”(Alliance) whereby they
(B4EB) o iRIEBFEAHE  SHRESHRBR would jointly operate and manage their 23 berths across eight terminals at
K &S IB I 2SR R0\ B EHBRESE I 23 (@ Kwai Chung. On 8 January 2019, a “Joint Operating Alliance Agreement” had
AL o B5H2019F 1 B 8 HiER TSR been concluded by the parties, with some key aspects entering into force on
1ERG B EE | EHRID EEESTH 2019 & 1 April 2019 and others under phased implementation. At the time of writing,
4 B 1 BEH 0 HEREXBIDPEESEIT - 185 the Commission had commenced a consultation on the commitments
AIERS SR OB ZARE (IE6) offered under section 60 of the Ordinance by the parties to the Alliance.

58 60 fRATIR AV AGE R FFERN
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Consultation of proposed commitments by online travel
agents

On 31 March 2020, the Commission commenced a consultation on the
commitments offered under section 60 of the Ordinance by three major
online travel agents (OTAs). The proposed commitments aim to address
the Commission’s concerns over certain clauses in their agreements
with accommodation providers in Hong Kong. Such clauses require
accommodation providers to always give the OTA the same or better terms
as those they offer in all other sales channels, as regards room prices, room
conditions and/or room availability. The acceptance of the commitments
will result in the complete removal of these clauses, benefiting consumers,
accommodation providers, potential new market entrants and the Hong
Kong tourism industry as a whole'".

This is the first time the Commission has commenced consultation on
commitments under section 60 of the Ordinance, demonstrating its
willingness to use the full range of outcomes in the Ordinance to achieve
appropriate and proportionate resolutions to competition concerns.

Policies on leniency, cooperation, and recommended pecuniary
penalties

In April 2019, the Commission published a Cooperation and Settlement
Policy for Undertakings Engaged in Cartel Conduct (Cooperation & Settlement
Policy) to enhance its effectiveness and efficiency in investigations by
setting a framework for cartel members that do not qualify for leniency to
come forward. Under the Cooperation & Settlement Policy, undertakings
which do not benefit from the Leniency Policy may choose to cooperate
with the Commission’s investigation and admit their wrongdoings. In
return, the Commission will offer discounts off the pecuniary penalties it
would otherwise recommend to the Tribunal and may refrain from taking
an action against the cooperating undertaking’s employees. The framework
also offers a Leniency Plus programme, which encourages cartel members
to report other cartel activities to the Commission.

11. At the time of writing, the Commission has accepted the commitments offered by the OTAs.
Having considered the representations received in the consultation, the Commission had
requested the OTAs to modify the proposed commitments, which is reflected in the final
version of the commitments.
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Based on its experience accumulated since the Ordinance came into full
effect, the Commission has been working on an enhanced leniency policy
framework for cartel conduct, expanding its coverage to individuals,
such as employees of a company, so as to provide stronger and clearer
incentives for a cartel member to stop the cartel conduct and report it to
the Commission. In addition, the production of a policy on recommended
pecuniary penalties for anti-competitive conduct is underway, aiming to
provide transparency on the determination process the Commission will
use in making penalty recommendations to the Tribunal.

At the time of writing, the Commission has published a revised Leniency
Policy for Undertakings Engaged in Cartel Conduct, a new Leniency Policy
for Individuals Involved in Cartel Conduct and the Policy on Recommended
Pecuniary Penalties. These three policies will form a comprehensive
framework for businesses engaged in cartels to assess the benefits of
coming forward and cooperating with the Commission, thus strengthening
enforcement and enhancing deterrence.

|
P‘
|

Mency Palicy
| i g, e

- By - MESCRM 1 (EBEREFEE) 1B
R B (EABIFEED -
At the time of writing, the Commission has published a
revised Leniency Policy for Undertakings Engaged in Cartel
Conduct and a new Leniency Policy for Individuals Involved
in Cartel Conduct.

Statement on application of the Ordinance during COVID-19
outbreak

In response to the challenges which the COVID-19 outbreak poses to
business operations and the supply of critical goods and services in Hong
Kong, the Commission issued a statement in March 2020 stating that while
the Ordinance continues to apply in full during COVID-19, it intends to take
a pragmatic approach in its enforcement and advisory functions regarding
temporary measures between businesses which are genuinely necessitated
by the COVID-19 outbreak and in the interests of Hong Kong consumers
and society.
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COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY - COOPERATION AND
LIAISON

Details of the concurrent jurisdiction between the Commission and the
Communications Authority (CA) under the Ordinance in the broadcasting
and telecommunications sectors are discussed on page 13.

Given the CA'’s specific function of regulating the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors, the CA will ordinarily take the role of Lead
Authority on matters which fall within the concurrent jurisdiction. Between
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, the Commission transferred a total of seven
complaints and enquiries to the CA.

LIAISON WITH OTHER GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS

In addition to complaints and enquiries from the public, the Commission
also follows up on referrals from Government departments and other
authorities. During the year, the Commission liaised with different
Government departments, statutory bodies and fellow law enforcement
agencies, including the Fire Services Department, Home Affairs Department,
Hong Kong Housing Authority, Hong Kong Police Force, Independent
Commission Against Corruption, Securities and Futures Commission and
Urban Renewal Authority. These communications have not only facilitated
the Commission in carrying out its investigative works in a more efficient
manner, but also in enhancing understanding of the Ordinance by the public
sector. In various investigations and legal proceedings, different Government
departments and public bodies have provided assistance to the Commission
in information and intelligence gathering.

In particular, the Commission has joined the RenoSafe Scheme led by the
Hong Kong Police Force, with other Government departments and public
bodies, including the Buildings Department, Independent Commission
Against Corruption, Hong Kong Housing Society, Urban Renewal Authority,
Home Affairs Department, Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
and Fire Services Department. The Scheme is an Interdepartmental Working
Group to make recommendations and formulate strategic tactics on matters
relating to renovation of ageing buildings in Hong Kong. It is considered
an important platform after the Government has launched the Operation
Building Bright 2.0 Scheme providing subsidies for building maintenance
projects.

Competition Commission
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2019F 10822 B X ERE (1&H) F On 22 October 2019, the Commission published a decision (Decision) under
MEAT—IBAT  lETBERTEMBEE section 11 of the Ordinance, finding that a proposed pharmaceutical sales
TR —IBZEYEERE (BETHRAE) ' T survey (Proposed Survey) was not excluded from the FCR by the economic
BB B R AR T EARE A B — 1T <FB|  efficiency exclusion® (efficiency exclusion).

296"

R 2IERAT  2EFE 2019 F 1 BURHEIEF  The Commission made the Decision in response to an application
ERIalEp e (S ) RiE (&6 (Application) under section 9 of the Ordinance received in January 2019
BRI AEREE (ZKHAE) MEH - 8 from the Hong Kong Association of the Pharmaceutical Industry (HKAPI).
WS TH— (TR 0 AN ETeE3szEY)  The HKAPI is an industry association of companies engaged in the research
BN BIFTHARE o S3EREE S R AL & 1T or development of pharmaceutical products. The Application concerned
N —IERAE » BEhaSEE/N R ERR the HKAPI's proposal to conduct and publish a survey containing sales data
WEEA RIEBEHEY I ESE - &lzEiE  from pharmaceutical companies on their prescription and over-the-counter
SREBZESEHARAT BRI ETHRERE pharmaceutical products in Hong Kong and Macau. The HKAPI sought a
FEBABH BRI » 98 —1TAF8|  decision confirming that the operation of the Proposed Survey in Hong Kong
8% o is excluded from the FCR as a result of the efficiency exclusion.

RN A YHRABT T EASRKENEEAA  The Commission found that the Application did not satisfy the efficiency
ZIEEH  LEEZRBEEGE— E£I5E 5L/ exclusion, particularly the first condition which requires undertakings to
RN ENRIEM AR DOAEE - provide convincing evidence of their efficiency claims. At the same time,
FIEs SR ESIEHYIRETHRAE DAY L it indicated that some of the information in the proposed survey could be
B TAOJRES|HEEsHRE T8l EHE shared without giving rise to competition concerns.

BEPHT -

RS D BIEE AR POLICY ADVISORY AND PUBLIC SECTOR ENGAGEMENT
REBEER Policy Advisory

FA BMEEMA0BEFEETELSTHIREN During the year, the Commission provided competition-related advice on

BRYEM AL HERENE B ESESHEEN approximately 30 public policies and initiatives that affect the city’s business

SR BUENERERAIGEEERIRFS - B environment and the daily lives of Hong Kong citizens, including the outlying

MEI e ~ NIRRT RiET 0 LR island ferry services, waste paper recycling measures, the design and

BRSNS ET - implementation of public procurements and competition matters arising
from international trade agreements.

12. (1&45]) [i2E 1 55 1 1K5THE » 12 F BEBL 4 B RT3 55 12. Section 1 of Schedule 1 to the Ordinance provides for a general exclusion from the FCR
BB E — 1T B TR —RERRE o WRIE (1E16) 2 6(2) for agreements which enhance overall economic efficiency. By virtue of section 6(2) of the
18 + L ENBR A 458 FE PR A 1 SR 0 4 % 2 FE BT Ba B 4t 69 Ordinance, this general exclusion also applies to concerted practices and decisions of an
SHGE o association of undertakings.
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In December 2019, the Commission submitted its views to the Bills
Committee of the Legislative Council on the Government’s proposed
Franchised Taxi Scheme, recommending specific pro-competition changes
to the Scheme. The Commission also calls on the Government to give serious
consideration to wider reforms of the taxi industry with the aim of allowing
consumers to obtain the full benefit of competition. To foster competition
in the tendering exercises for short-term tenancy (STT) sites operating
government designated driving schools, the Commission has provided
advice to the Transport Department in relation to the recent tender for the
Ap Lei Chau driving school site. The Commission’s suggestions have been
adopted in the tender design. The Transport Department will continue to
conduct tendering exercises with the enhanced marking scheme for STT
sites operating government designated driving schools in future in order to

enhance competition in the driver training market.

In addition to current issues, the Commission has also looked into forward-
looking policy topics, including potential competition issues that may arise
from digital economy. In January 2020, the Commission had a constructive
preliminary dialogue with the Consumer Council and the Office of the
Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data to exchange knowledge and views
relating to the interplay between competition law, consumer protection and
data privacy in digital markets. The three bodies will follow up and explore
possible collaborations on this cross-regulatory regime issue.

Public Sector Engagement

As part of its effort to provide the public sector with the training and tools
to enhance the competition impact assessment process during policy
formulation, the Commission launched a research project in August
2019 involving renowned academics from Hong Kong, Mainland China
and Australia to undertake a comparative study of competition impact
assessment regimes, aiming to produce a tailor-made framework with

practical guidelines for the public sector in Hong Kong.

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Commission has called for
public bodies which are tasked to administer subsidy programmes under
the Government’s Anti-Epidemic Fund to take competition concerns into
consideration and be vigilant against anti-competitive conduct. In this
regard, the Commission is pleased to have worked with the Hong Kong
Productivity Council (HKPC) which has accepted its advice on collusion
prevention and incorporated the Commission’s Model Non-collusive
Clauses and Certificate in the Guidance Notes for the Distance Business
Programme under the Anti-Epidemic Fund. The Commission has also
provided the Council with an online seminar with a focus on how to
prevent and detect bid-rigging and other anti-competitive conduct.

Competition Commission



B4 VS E AR T {F O] &8

Review of Work for the Financial Year

ERIEEAEIE

EREMSHRFREETEULSE  HER
BEIFRYATHRAZKER - —HLUEK
BETEAEREBHETR ABRHBERE
FENSTLEFHE BAEAREEHR
%AE - R g (R6)) MRH - LEE%
FPE -

BR

FR - BREEAER (K2 D) RAR
BT ISR (IR6) B - RS
2019 & 4 Bt (S ERMEREER) % - FEED
Bt 6 BB T MIZEEREE - EIRERRK
FRR T REBRRESIFRIFR - LUREECR
HEANE(E - BIREEE I EEER - 2MER
FE% R -

HEBH G 2019 F5 AMEREEBEHE
HREHNER  BEERFTENIZ
MAEEGFE BEENER - REMERN
BE - BRABEHBANBREERE TE - 2
EREXRREMBHEFEZE > EHhEE
EREEREE2ERE LRREANT

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION

Education and advocacy are as important as enforcement actions in fostering
competitive markets and a compliance culture. The Commission has been
actively engaging the public and businesses through direct engagement,
educational initiatives and special projects across multiple platforms, with an
aim to raising community awareness and understanding of the Ordinance as

well as encouraging compliance.

Businesses

During the year, the Commission conducted four seminars targeting
businesses in particular SMEs, and the public. Following the publication
of the Cooperation & Settlement Policy in April 2019, another two seminars
were conducted in June 2019 to help the local business community and law
firms understand the benefits of cooperating with the Commission and how
the policy applies. Response to these seminars was overwhelming with full

houses of audience showing great interest in the topic.

Riding on the judgment in the first renovation cartel case handed down by
the Tribunal in May 2019, the Commission has published a flyer on the facts
of the case, lesson learned and advice to businesses. Besides publishing
on the website, the flyer was also widely distributed to businesses and
stakeholders including decoration contractors on the Hong Kong Housing
Authority’s reference list.

- HREERAREEGRRARANLES - LRI TE (156 NERRIFE -

The Commission has been actively reaching out to the public and businesses to explain the key elements and benefits of the Ordinance.
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In reaching a wider audience, the Commission participated in the
Entrepreneur Day and SmartBiz Expo organised by the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council in May and December 2019 respectively.
The Commission’s booths at the two events featured information panels,
educational videos and interactive games to help businesses, especially
SMEs, understand the Ordinance and the competition cases in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Commission continued to work closely with trade and
industry associations through numerous briefings and meetings conducted
throughout the year to assist and encourage their members to comply with

the Ordinance.

B sxasn agn, & ASEEEN,  MBARERIEE -

The Commission participated in the Entrepreneur Day and SmartBiz Expo to extend its outreach to businesses.

BOE

HEATVFRE  EEERZSEEIMEN
BER-R-FR BESRAPBEHHTH—
ARG (MRG1) WA T(FY - BAREFE—
RizSHER - AftbfiEm A FRFaEE -

o BEREFHERE N RRRF AL ERE

The Commission has been organising interactive workshop for secondary schools during the year.

Youths

Engagement with Hong Kong's youths remains a focus of the Commission’s
advocacy work. To instill the value of fair competition in the younger
generation before they join the workforce, the Commission has furthered its
youth outreach by rolling out a new round of interactive workshops on the
Ordinance to all secondary school students in Hong Kong.

Competition Commission
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General Public and Other Stakeholders

During the year, the Commission continued its district outreach, especially
on fighting bid-rigging, by speaking at briefings on building renovation
and management organised by District Councils, Home Affairs Department,
Buildings Department and the Urban Renewal Authority, targeting property
owners and building management personnel across different districts in
Hong Kong. Invited by the Hong Kong Housing Authority, briefings were
given to decoration contractors prior to the intake of tenants at new public
housing estates during the year.

To keep relevant organisations, businesses and stakeholders abreast of its
latest activities and development, the Commission published three issues of
its newsletter “Competition Matters” during the period.

EBATHEERYEE (2019F 48EF2020F 3 8)

Engagement Facts and Figures (April 2019 to March 2020)

B177
41 1o e/ B
7] briefings / meetings
17z »ean
28 school talks
6iE AT
77 major seminars

135 =
77 exhibitions conducted

" TERIFHLE N2 EREAY -

23 I

©3,700°

BAEE - TEHBE - 0¥ (BFEHRNE)  2E7H -
BLERABALT

representatives of major chambers, industry associations,
businesses including SMEs, public sector, students and members of
the public reached

*The figure does not include the number of exhibition visitors which cannot be quantified.

- HEEFALET SEBFHIEREE[INE -
The Commission spoke at briefings on building management and renovation targeting property owners and building management personnel
across different districts during the year.

EESBEIRMEEEAS -
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MEDIA AND PUBLICITY

During the year under review, the Commission continued to develop various
initiatives and leverage on different platforms in getting pro-competition
messages across the community. The Commission also endeavoured to
maintain effective and bilateral communications with the public and the

mass media in providing updates on its development.
“Report Anti-competitive Conduct” Campaign

The Commission launched a multi-pronged advocacy campaign in August
2019 to encourage the community, in particular victims, to report suspected
anti-competitive practices to the Commission. The campaign addressed
common concerns that businesses and the public may have in coming
forward to file a complaint. In addition to new TV and radio announcements,
a mini-website was rolled out featuring red flags of anti-competitive conduct

and information on how complaints will be handled by the Commission.
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BRI L E(E Outdoor and online promotions

EINNRAEENE X2 EBF/ R LT  To maximise the impact and get the message across a wide spectrum of
& GiEEEE B+t REFHEE ' LIKF  audience, the campaign was supported by extensive outdoor and online
MEBRRRAZHE  EFTEBPEEES  promotions including advertising at MTR stations, bus and tram bodies as

B EoEBRTSENAL  SESEEMES well as on mobile application. On-street promotion was also conducted in
FHITE o key business and commercial districts to reach out to different walks of life in

particular businessmen across the city.

KEORE Roving Exhibition

BE—SIEgiteHEER NS HISANEE - To strengthen community awareness of bid-rigging and market sharing
DEREHEBAEMARNBAAIEE%4T  and educate the public on how to identify such conduct at district level,
B BEER209F48 2108 8 the Commission staged a new round of roving tour of its “Cartel Cat” pop-

EEE BB ANETERALE EZg & up exhibit at 13 sports centres and public libraries across Hong Kong from
WTH—8TAEE, KRR WERESHH April to October 2019. A Facebook game was launched in tandem to engage
Facebook /5 » IRBMER R AREIEEE - young netizens and encourage members of the public to visit the exhibitions.

BEhHDER
e | P
. ]

o e
3462 2118

SERREE

LTy
ey

L4 L EREERERNEBBNEETES - - BMEEEFNEEALBEERAKLESHEEN "535H ) KBE -
The Commission’s website serves as an important platform The Commission staged a roving tour of its “Cartel Cat” pop-up exhibit at
between the Commission and its stakeholders. major sports centres and public libraries across Hong Kong in 2019.

9k Website

R e TR ENEMEY  BHhaH IS The Commission’s website is regularly updated with latest news on its

W EEREREENFE 0 LLRBETIMAHEL work, details of seminars and events as well as various publications and

iR el EBNEETL ' & educational materials. Recording over 4.5 million hits throughout the year,

FREEERE 450 BAK o A B5EEIREHR]  the website is an important interface between the Commission and its

B H YouTube $8iE © I SHWBREEEE - stakeholders. The Commission’s YouTube channel is also regularly updated
with its educational and announcement videos.

.
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HthEEBREEIE Other Publicity and Advocacy

RS TR TRBEEEEE BHT The Commission held two media events, issued 15 press releases and
15 3B  RIES T ERIREE » EAHMR participated in seven press interviews to keep local and international media

EMEIE RS R e RTISRE  FAS abreast of its latest development during the year. These efforts generated
B (&E) BRETRERSE - extensive coverage and publicity for both the Commission and the
Ordinance.

Certificate »~

‘ Hong Kong Competition Commission

o Them

2op| DT Gremie
‘ conr 8| RBUBETERM MI
e mE R RSB EE - F p pEemreRERELREERTRE -
The Commission won three awards for its outreach and The Commission kept local and international media abreast of its latest
publicity activities during the year. development during the year.
IR Tk 5 Awards & Recognition

2019/20 FE @ ss X @S EHNT FEHLES The Commission has won three awards for its outreach and publicity

={E4EIE o initiatives during 2019/20.
{ERIER Items 4815 Awards received fE35 K8 Awarded by
TERITINA 1% 2019-2020 HFEE LR
ES;EH EEHARIBEMER S UBHBERT L A s sineme pit RS 6
“Combat Market 2019-2020 Competition Advocacy Contest International Competition Network
Sharing Cartels” Winner in the category of “Boosting policy and World Bank Grou
; a o p
Campaign effectiveness through better coordination between

enforcement and advocacy”

2018/19 2018/19 Vision Awards F$RAE
£ 4§ Annual Report " EATAR , S5

2018/19 Vision Awards Annual Report Competition
Gold in the category of “Government”

ESETPE R Y
League of American Communications
Professionals

FERRBRBITS. Questar Awards 2020

BERES TIRRFIHLE - ARHBHAET , FLE

“Report Anti- Questar Awards 2020 Questar Awards 2020
competitive Conduct” Bronze in the category of “Non-Profit Organisations:

TV Commercial Public Awareness”
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Bl EEI B R o B S 1 R B B INTERNATIONAL AND MAINLAND LIAISON
te R 1 IUESS R B AL IBOE 5 HEHE o F{f9—  As it rapidly matures as a law enforcement agency, the Commission

BEEE > BRMIEII SR EHEEERESR continues to see tremendous value in its international cooperation and
BUBERSERBIEBAFREIFEEER - A(E collaboration with Mainland and overseas counterparts and competition
EERTHE R A A B NS E ) 58 experts. To foster partnerships between academic institutions and
FEH 2019 F 8 AlFEEE KB FEHEE  competition law enforcers, the Commission and the Centre for Competition
HEIMEROENEE "I A EEEANE Policy and Regulation of Lingnan University co-organised the inaugural
B oo BrEatdF 45 URELKE 13 @R Competition Enforcers and Academics Summit in August 2019. Forty-five
EEEENMREEZERHEMERRLE - IE participants from 13 jurisdictions in the Asia-Pacific region gathered to
S EATER R E M E R B A a0 B = G discuss how academics and enforcers can most effectively leverage each
B ERREE - other’s knowledge, expertise and resources.

o BERENE_FRIEMEEFHEEH  Inits second year as co-chair of the Advocacy Working Group of the
2 (ICN) BE T8 F e TE/VEMBFEXE - International Competition Network (ICN), the Commission continues to
FR BESHEELIHE) ICN 2 EIEFEET work towards the mission of improving the effectiveness of ICN members'’

TER R BT SRR AT E E T iR advocacy activities in advancing the adoption of competition principles

NEEREE|  WETEHESS XL - £5 in government and promoting the development of a competition culture
e R e #E T e/ B — A EERIEREE within the society. Last year, the Commission took the lead in updating the
T — "THIEEERE A7 12019 Market Studies Information Store which is an important web-based resource

e HiE MR EE  PERBTHMEI®RIE  centre for ICN members. The Commission also organised a couple of
B BEM T —1B2 LIt E  EICN®E8ZE  discussion sessions at the 2019 ICN Annual Conference as well as a webinar
EAZEES o by} R EELRHTEAERR to facilitate experience sharing among ICN members. Additionally, the

(528

MEErEesE AR ESE) 0 Flan THhEEEEE %S Commission participated in some key regional and international competition

18 TEEEsLes | B MBS /EESE  events such as the China Competition Policy Forum, the ASEAN Competition

B2 S IREEHER1E | o SELSEE)IEM AT Conference and the Global Forum on Competition of the Organisation for

BEL > EmfeREREETHEFSEA  Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). These events provide

EREARCERTIBER S o suitable platforms for the Commission to showcase Hong Kong’s strong
commitment and efforts to promote competition.

F e § o ©
o
8™ ASEAN COMPETITION CONFERENCE

"ATTAINING MILESTONES AND ADDRESSING CHALLENGES”

14™.15™ NOVEMBER 2019
CAMP=D

%

& sssurnminen
Competition Enforcers and Academics Summit The 8" ASEAN Competition Conference

BN\EREHRFEEE
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In addition to its multilateral engagement efforts, the Commission also
further strengthened its bilateral ties with overseas enforcers through
experience sharing and staff exchange programmes. During the year, the
Commission participated in several online and physical meetings with
counterparts from Japan, Korea, New Zealand, the Philippines and Singapore
to discuss investigation and legal issues arising from specific cases.
Additionally, seasoned officials from the French Competition Authority,
the Directorate-General for Competition of the European Commission,
and the New Zealand Commerce Commission worked at the Commission
as consultants on a short-term basis, sharing valuable experience in
policy advisory, international engagement, investigative and legal work.
A legal counsel from the Commission was also seconded to the Australian
Competition and Consumer Commission to gain enforcement and litigation

experience.

)
4

Competition assessment

ot @ golden bridge to retreal arrass "

can be achieved with small force™

F gpresineprRsie

International Competition Network Annual Conference

CAPACITY BUILDING

With growing challenges presented by enforcement activities, the
Commission continued the recruitment during the year in order to develop
and maintain a highly professional workforce to support its core functions
and respond flexibly to changing work priorities. During the year, a number
of new recruits including experienced competition law enforcers from
well-established overseas agencies and litigation professionals joined
the Commission to strengthen its enforcement capability. A range of
professional trainings were provided to staff on various functional areas such
as international competition law, competition policy and IT forensic analysis,
etc. to keep them abreast with the latest knowledge and expertise in the
international competition law arena. As at March 2020, the Commission had
61 staff members.

Competition Commission
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EEINTERNREINARRE  S5FZe20NER During the year, the Commission has upgraded the network infrastructure
B EmLERE FRISKAE =408 and desktop computers for operational efficiencies and security. As part of

RS SEN R 2SR RFEN R LLRAIE  theupgrade, the Commission has installed a state-of-the-art threat detection
Hpsmzg  BURESZEeRSEEMEIE  and prevention system as well as deployed an internet access management

Ba Y =N
WE - [ BEETEHIBEATHEHZERHN system to protect the Commission’s network from malicious cyber-attack.
R T T ZOREREE] - ERERE Corporate governance was also strengthened with enhancement on

LIB{bEE4L o BH B ERSEE®R  confidential information security and the issuance of several new or revised

PR BEEERTRESHFE  LEFES internal rules, policies and procedures on different aspects of corporate
THERIE  GIEFERASEEBAIGHIIREFE  services. Since the COVID-19 outbreak, the Commission has deployed IT

b IR EEISHIRI A EERER - 1 infrastructure and equipment to facilitate staff working from home, including

RS TNEEIRFE FEE/VEARRESD  BiF the application of machine learning in e-discovery to improve the efficiency

RN E F R sivira/ B BETE - of investigation during the period. In addition, the Commission continues

BB R o to equip the forensic IT team with the latest digital forensic knowledge and
hardware.

BEREMNIMAZTDMN 2019 F£ 6 BHREFB/E  The office of the Commission was relocated from Wan Chai to Wong Chuk
= o F22019/20 FE > HFHEEZEMNE Hang in June 2019. In 2019/20, the Government enhanced the financial

EBN IR 10% o B4} - BUFHE 2018/19  support for the Commission with an increase of the annual Government

FEFMIFIEMET 2 53,800 BTHIEHHET subvention by over 10%. Starting from 2018/19, a dedicated funding of $238
YHEEREARIAT(E - EEREIINIEINE R million has also been provided to support the Commission’s litigation work.
B AEARIEMNEEEIREA T /£ The additional financial support has enabled the Commission to accomplish
WETT T = FEEEETEl  PAETEABE - the growing number of enforcement and litigation work and implement the

initiatives set out in the Three-Year Strategic Plan.
= S EHE THREE-YEAR STRATEGIC PLAN
FRBREHIETT "=ZFERETE L HE During the year, the Commission drew up its Three-Year Strategic Plan
2020/21 ~ 2021/22 }% 2022/23 = {ABA I ERE o covering the financial years of 2020/21, 2021/22 and 2022/23. The strategic

R e RSB BB E T ¢ targets of the Commission for the planning period are as follows:

1) BJEUTIF #HEEIEeEg8FEBESF (&8 (1) Ensure compliance with the Ordinance by:

iy -
HEAEBR  BROTEEANLSR «  educating and informing the business community in Hong Kong
HAMFITE (IEF) TFTavREFMES(T about their rights and obligations under the Ordinance;
IREEEBT (IEH]) 5 «  reminding businesses to comply with the Ordinance;
BERAthES A WINFEEHEE «  engaging with Hong Kong’s youth to promote understanding and
FMERERATHESTMNDRER support for competition in the next generation of consumers and
% business people;
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conducting investigations and seeking remedies, including
applications to the Tribunal, against both corporate and
individual contraveners;

building on existing cases to set and expand important precedents
under the Ordinance;

seeking deterrent penalties in appropriate cases from the
Tribunal; and

determining whether relevant exemptions and exclusions apply
by dealing with applications for Decisions and Block Exemption
Orders.

(2) BUUTIE T EHESES L : (2)  Promote a competition culture in Hong Kong by:

BRI ERMOE R ERHRF
WEE ABEBRNREEHER
HEGRER

EREUR REEWBEHIZT S IEH
R BEMETERANBRTR
HEFE TE—THRBRFHEMRA
Z8250;

HERABTRNEE BX - Bii K
HEBERGE  MRMMAYESRF
EERESH - UREFEMEHERE
=S

BENERBEEALRABIENE
B BEEMNREMIETEUR
BEAMRET  BIIE Z RS
FERBT BBRIEHER -

providing advice to the Government and statutory bodies on
the competition implications of government policies and new
policy proposals;

advocating for continued and enhanced use of competition
impact assessments by the Government and statutory bodies
and for greater integration of competition policy into policy
setting;

working with business, professional, academic and consumer
groups in Hong Kong to foster understanding of and research
into competition issues; and

enabling the legal professional to gain a better understanding
of the fundamentals of competition law, investigations and
enforcement by the Commission as well as competition
compliance to deepen the pool of knowledgeable legal
professionals available to advise the business community.

(3) JEUTIF #eEZemeER(E (3)  Establish the Commission as a credible and highly regarded agency

RAENROHERE - by:

RIS EAl R RFEERNET

BAREMERER - LUEKFIEE
LS KERITITS

ERAMANMBRERERAGSH
s &

recruiting, developing and supporting high caliber staff;

consolidating our practices and procedures to be able to
undertake all our activities to a high standard;

ensuring that our financial and infrastructure resources are fit for
purpose; and
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ET—RINEBTHERRER  FLHEEZEE
ITRIAMBERYIE S| RETEREZ A - BRMET
BEEXHN - MRS ERET - F
R ERRUT S FAR AVEHRE -

liaising with international organisations and overseas counterparts
to ensure best practice application of competition law and policy,
to contribute to the development of such practices, and to assist
in appropriate regional capacity-building efforts.

Detailed action plans to achieve these targets have been set in each

functional area with tasks identified, timelines drawn and resource

requirements estimated. Key performance indicators have also been

developed

for guiding and measuring the performance of the Commission’s

different functions. The plan has been submitted to the Government. The

Commission will also conduct regular review on the plan which will form the

basis for compiling its estimates of income and expenditure.
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OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Competition Commission (“the
Commission”) set out on pages 58 to 101, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020, the income and expenditure account,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2020 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Commission in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The Commission Members are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Competition Commission
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BRPAEHEZEEEE (R)
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE COMMISSION MEMBERS OF COMPETITION COMMISSION (CONTINUED)

(118 (FEFEEG) HREEBLT)
(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

ARSI ETNEST RPN SEERE In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is
EHMER  TILBRED s EEHMEBE  toread the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
A BB TR R R R PIE B EHAFEH T T BREY(5 information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our

RIFEE AR B L EFEEE AR LA knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
&5 o misstated.

EREBPESHTHNIE  MERMREEHME If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
BRFEEAENRMEL  RIEBRLEZET o material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

EEAE @ BB TSRS - that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
ERE BN ERRARIEN RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMISSION MEMBERS
BE FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Erer e AAaEREE S ASEHN The Commission Members are responsible for the preparation of the financial
(EEBERESER) RBEEEMPEREITE statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
RE 0 MHET A EGEERRIVBETTZE by the HKICPA and for such internal control as the Commission Members
R B EE SR M B R | A SEERFEAFTERY determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
AZRIEFHIBE S ° are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ERHBEIFEIRERS SRR E B SIS In preparing the financial statements, the Commission Members are
EIEEREMEED BRI R TSR responsible for assessing the Commission’s ability to continue as a going
B ERINEIE 0 LR ERFEREZ s®st  concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
E BRI ZeRea=iiRasfia(=  using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Commission

& SRR ERNERAE - Members either intend to liquidate the Commission or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

KT ES B TSR R/RIBNE(E  AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KM EE - BHBBRRBEES T FEH Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
FAHrEE e R R ME N E AR IRERAVEAIE  financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
{R2% . WHEEERMERNEEENIRS - 3% due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
M RIRBIEENTIEZAETE » EaEEERS opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
T o BRI LIS) - ISR ES T BEE Mt A agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
B o RPN ARENAR » HHEMEM A responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
tTaESERIELRSE - of this report.
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BWILLHETERS
HRBEHEEEEE (|)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE COMMISSION MEMBERS OF COMPETITION COMMISSION (CONTINUED)

(118 (FEFHEG) HREBMLIL)

(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

SEREESKENRE  BTRRERR

(EBBER) ETHESN  EE—EAH
REE TR RRESE IR - SHRRIRIL 7] LR HREE
BiEHARG|E - MR SRR E M EEEERLE
KA R B R TR B KB IR RANE
H B FE R E - B RAAY #8 3R Rt 7] 4R 1F
BEX-

ERE (FEEER) ETERBRES
BISERTBEYE > RIEFTERIRREREE -
IR

- EBUMETE B A EREE BN EE R T B 2 E1 75
BREFEEAHERBLAER @ 551K
WATEETEF LB E L ERE - LIRS
WREEMBEERNEEE  FRAME
ReVEw - HNHEFRIREL R REE - 1B
& BRER - EBRERTL SEERA
Epimdlz £ Rt RERBRRABMFME
MR E R HHRBRL A E R S H R AER IR
FRERME MM E K HRELAI A

- TEREBEAERBIAEREE - LERETE
ENBFRERF BENLIFHBERER
EREHBBMRRER -

- PEBEEEEMRARIBENRE
R 1 H B Bl EH A AE BRI B A0 & T2
o

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that

an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

88 | 56

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Commission Members.

Competition Commission
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IR LT
BRPAEHEZEEEE (R)
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE COMMISSION MEMBERS OF COMPETITION COMMISSION (CONTINUED)

(118 (FEFEEG) HREEBLT)
(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

- HeEre X IR ERLSSTEBN = Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commission Members' use
aEME AL o IRIEFTERNMNEET R of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
BT EATFEESIESN SR BN evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
EATEEE Mot ENEEE to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
IS IEREEE NEL T ARE - MEHK Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
MREFEEATEEM  BIERETE that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
RSP ESAFERE B I B ESRE our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
R ERRIEE - BEBRHNKRETE or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
BIFEPEERRIEEEES R - HMW conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
LA 2 ENEEMERES B IEFTEVENE of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
ST7REE o PR @ RAREIFEL(F N Al HEE cause the Commission to cease to continue as a going concern.

HORE S TREREIRE -

_ BRI FRIRFRAVEEEETISR S K« ASIERD - Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
AR SRS DRMEREES financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
ERMIZSFEIE o financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events

in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

BREMEIES, > KPESEeESE R TTE We communicate with the Commission Members regarding, among other

BBt EiE - B RHE s EAB RN - matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
BIEFPIERST AR R A ER &R = K findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
FRBA identify during our audit.

SR EE SR KPMG

MEEEETED Certified Public Accountants

EERIR 8" Floor, Prince’s Building

HEFTE 10 58 10 Chater Road

XFKE 8 Central, Hong Kong
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W=ZRE
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

BB F " THF=H=-~1—HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LU #3177 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
. 2020 (Ff&Z Note)
K15 Note BT HK$ BT HK$
A Income
BUS B
Government subventions 3 124,352,710 105,338,234
FREAE 2 HEED
Litigation Fund subventions 4 13,600,330 23,617,527
BFEEWA
Application fee income 5 - 100,000
FBUTA
Interest income 1,757,278 1,268,826
EAtUg A
Otherincome 6 1,222,778 304,235
140,933,096 130,628,822
% 1 Expenditure
e
Staff expenses 7 64,382,872 58,471,347
HEZH
Enforcement expenses 8 29,714,199 27,586,522
EERARYERH
Publicity and public education expenses 5,289,235 7,151,381
BRRTsZ H
Premises expenses 4,000,263 6,637,071
==
Honorarium to Commission members 17 4,080,000 4,060,000
ZHENINE
Auditor’s remuneration 138,000 133,000
e
Depreciation 9 11,482,020 2,011,003
Hitt BE&R
Other operating expenses 9,777,300 6,424,865
HEEEFE
Interest on lease liabilities 1,030,217 -
129,894,106 112,475,189
FREER
Surplus for the year 11,038,990 18,153,633

iz . BEEER ZE—NFINH—HEBEIEETRIE Note: The Commission has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.

IEHIRERFE T (B BRI 2RI ) 5 16 5 o 1R1F
27505 0 BREBILKY L EIEHEITE I - 2R See note 2(c).
& 2(c) -

26525 101 BRI BABTEHMERAI—IE4> o The notes on pages 65 to 101 form part of these financial statements.
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FHBRRR
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

#HE—E_FF= J=+—HIEFE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LB FI 7 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEENRBINEEER TERRER The Commission had no components of comprehensive income other

DN EUNESAOERLIER o Atk - 85F e than “surplus for the year” in either of the years presented. Accordingly,

RREEERRISENBEEYEEUNLES » 58  no separate statement of comprehensive income is presented as the

Fan) T 2EUAGESE | M T EREEE | EE o Commission’s “total comprehensive income” was the same as the “surplus
for the year”in both years.

#6525 101 BRI EBABTEMEM—2F4> o The notes on pages 65 to 101 form part of these financial statements.
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CrEE W
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

WZEZFF=H=-+—H asat 31 March 2020
(LU #3177 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
. 2020 (Ff&Z Note)
Bft&E Note /BT HKS BT HKS
JERBEE
Non-current assets
W ~ HEER AR E
Property, plant and equipment 9 43,351,103 3,753,119
HMEWEL ~ B2 RTANR
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 1,662,360 -
45,013,463 3,753,119
mMENEE
Current assets
HEWER ~ B RTEFR
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 10 5,962,763 4,219,014
& RERITHETF
Cash and bank balances 11(a) 103,383,411 92,831,931
109,346,174 97,050,945
mENEE
Current liabilities
B Z A AR
Provision for staff entitlements 12 7,827,028 4,521,067
HithE IR ETER
Other payables and accruals 13 18,258,097 4,278,390
FEUEL AT 1R B
Government subventions received in advance 14(a) 6,583,698 10,060,300
FEUREREAE £ #EED
Litigation Fund subventions received in advance 4 - 5,092,473
HEN R ER
Surplus subventions 15(b) 29,019,055 26,007,490
HERE
Lease liabilities 16 5,014,375 -
66,702,253 49,959,720
mENEERE
Net current assets 42,643,921 47,091,225
WEERTEA&E
Total assets less current liabilities 87,657,384 50,844,344

Competition Commission
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BFIRAR (18)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

K- E =T =F=+—H asat 31 March 2020
(LB 37 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019

2020 (Fi5* Note)
Fi#5t Note BT HK$ BT HKS

FRERE

Non-current liabilities

HittE A R R Bt EH

Other payables and accruals 13 3,823,450 -

I B Z R AR

Provision for staff entitlements 12 1,438,530 3,091,829

FEUS BT AT #EN

Government subventions received in advance 14(a) 11,571,535 11,571,535

EFEUTA

Deferred income 14(b) 12,509,837 -

HEBE

Lease liabilities 16 21,905,527 -
51,248,879 14,663,364

BERE

Net assets 36,408,505 36,180,980

Funds

EFEES

Reserve fund 15(a) 36,408,505 36,180,980

HErE S R85 2020 F£9 A 28 At AEKRIRH#E  Approved and authorised for issue by the Commission Members on

FIZE - 28 September 2020.
PR X B% Samuel CHAN Ka-yan
BmEEEE Chairman of the Commission

iz : BEESERZZE—NFINH— HEBFEIEETRIE W Note: The Commission has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

GENIBIRFE T (& BB FEIRE ) 5 16 5 o 1RIE retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
55 BECI R LR BIEETTE L - 2T See note 2(c).
5L 2(c) °

#6525 101 BRI EBABTEMEM—2F4> o The notes on pages 65 to 101 form part of these financial statements.
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EXE2HR
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

BB F " THF=H=-~1—HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LU #3177 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FliEE=
Reserve fund
(H?5E Note)
/BT HKS
1220184 1H Z#Ek
Balance at 1 April 2018 25,795,302
2018/2019F EE = &8) :
Changes in fund for 2018/2019:
FAREREEGHRER
Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 18,153,633
1A FEAT LT 1B B BR
Transfer to surplus subventions payable to the Government (7,767,955)
52201953 831HM2019F4B 18 Z#8k
Balance at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 36,180,980
2019/2020F E & & &) :

Changes in fund for 2019/2020:
AEEREREENLEIRE

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 11,038,990
WA TR ER

Transfer to surplus subventions payable to the Government (10,811,465)
$22020F3 831028k

Balance at 31 March 2020 36,408,505

fisx : BEEE R —E— N FEINH—HEBISIE5TAIE W Note: The Commission has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

EIBIRFE T (B BB FEIRE ) 2 16 5 - 1R retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
Z7%  BEB WA IR BIEETEL - 2R See note 2(c).
&t 2(c)

26525 101 BRI BABTEHMERAI—IE4> o The notes on pages 65 to 101 form part of these financial statements.
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RERER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#HE—E LT F= J=+—HIEFE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LUE B35~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019
2020 (Fi5* Note)
FBIT HKS 7BIT HKS

&8 &®) Operating activities

FARER
Surplus for the year 11,038,990 18,153,633

§328 Adjustments for :

e

Depreciation 9 11,482,020 2,011,003
FEWA

Interestincome (1,757,278) (1,268,826)
HEREFE

Interest on lease liabilities 1,030,217 -
BRI  HEER R AR RIS

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 (2,778) (46,400)
B2 (gl

Reversal of reinstatement provision 6 (1,220,000) -

& EE = #8) Changes in working capital :
HAMEIR ~ e R FIEN

Increase in other receivables, deposits and prepayments (3,339,669) (1,412,017)
i 8 Z AR HIEM

Increase in provision for staff entitlements 1,652,662 1,343,328
HAREAT AT B REM/ (L)

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals 15,199,707 (948,335)

TRUSEURTRRED ~ IRAEUTA R B B RIE N

Increase in Government subventions received in advance, deferred income and

surplus subventions 1,233,335 2,290,766
FEWEREAE S FEED (R4 ) /1800
(Decrease)/increase in Litigation Fund subventions received in advance (5,092,473) 5,092,473
EEEHMBRERE
Net cash generated from operating activities 30,224,733 25,215,625

Wizt : BrEE R E— L FEPNH— HiEBIEIE5TAIE#H Note: The Commission has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

GERNIBIRE T (BB ISR L) 5 16 5 - 1RIE retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
Z7305 0 REE IR LR EFETTEM - BRI See note 2(c).
7 2(c) °

#6525 101 BRI EBABTEMEM—2F4> o The notes on pages 65 to 101 form part of these financial statements.
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iﬁ%lllbgi ( *E )
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

BB F " THF=H=-~1—HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LU #3177 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2019

2020 (Fff5E Note)
7T HKS 7BIT HKS

2 B EE) Investing activities

SUFIE

Interest received 1,690,838 962,192
XEEME « M8 R HTIR

Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (16,485,091) (3,018,329)
Y - R R BATISFUE

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 18,200 46,400
[ R ERE A = (8 B Y SRIT 7 R 8

Increase in bank deposits with original maturity over three months (1,000,000) (35,000,000)
REEERANRERE

Net cash used in investing activities (15,776,053) (37,009,737)

b ;& 8) Financing activities
SAHERSNELRSS

Capital element of lease rentals paid 11(b) (3,866,983) -
ENHERSF BE2

Interest element of lease rentals paid 11(b) (1,030,217) -
M E EEIFT AR IR & B

Net cash used in financing activities (4,897,200) -
ReERREFEWBEM/ (FHY)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,551,480 (11,794,112)
FNZRERAEFEY

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 57,831,931 69,626,043
FRZRAERREFEY

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11(a) 67,383,411 57,831,931

fisx : BEEE R —E— N FEINH—HEBISIE5TAIE W Note: The Commission has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using the modified

GEAIIBERF T (BB SR L)) £ 16 5 - IRIE retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative information is not restated.
Bk BEGWARH LB BIEEITEM - 2R See note 2(c).
& 2(c) °

26525 101 BRI BABTEHMERAI—IE4> o The notes on pages 65 to 101 form part of these financial statements.

MPBHKZTEE | 64 | Competition Commission



Lk EErES

Financial Statements

1. —REH

HEFEBFEET ("HEZE L) A—ERE G
&GN (CIEFIY ) (58 619 &) pRILAVEIL
ETEERE  LBREHIT (R4 - SEEHIN
BERRERRFFEHY C1EBI) 25 130 R 131 1§
BEERNHEGBEFNNEBEES  aERE
AR FIRE BB HBETREZEE &
EESEEAERNERRRE - BEERGE
M= RN EAEZMINEIIE 8 57 South
Island Place19 #& °

RIB (IR MiRs5 B 22 1% MEGEHRRE
(TRISIRGI) TR -

2. FEEEE
(a) EHIER

FUBRRCRBEESHEILGRMNN (F
AR ELER) MRS o LLREEEREE
R ER EBERELER > SAF LR
28 LEREBABERA - SRS
ZERSETEEREN T -

BEAEGREMAERT 7 & THATMEZITA

(BEEUBREER) > URBREELEFEN
ST HAERREXE AT HIR R R - BREET)
YR e A ERE: R e R RARY R T MIAZIE ST RO LE RN Ay
B BMAFEMUFE BN E ST ERE
g CHRAMBERERARMBR - BREAER IR
BiIEE 2(c) ©

BAF5 R RIIEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LB 317 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1. General information

Competition Commission (“the Commission”) is established under the

Competiti
statutory
functions
and 131 o

on Ordinance (“the Ordinance”), Cap. 619, as an independent
body tasked with the functions to enforce the Ordinance. The
and powers of the Commission are stipulated in Sections 130
f the Ordinance. The Commission is committed to promoting a

competitive environment that is conductive to free flow of trade, efficiency

and innovation that brings more choices and better quality and prices of

goods and services to consumers. The address of its registered office is 19/F,

South Island Place, 8 Wong Chuk Hang Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

The Commission is exempt from taxation in respect of the Inland Revenue

Ordinance

2. Sig

in accordance with Schedule 5 of Section 22 of the Ordinance.

nificant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which

collective

term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and

Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in

Hong Kong. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Commission are

disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective

or availab

le for early adoption for the current accounting period of the

Commission. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting

policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent

that they are relevant to the Commission for the current and prior accounting

periods reflected in these financial statements.

2019/2020 F#, | 65
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BA TSR R M RE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUE )7 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2. FEEEHR (#8)
(b) EAFSERRIRGIELE

KA FBFRRTVIRABER AT EEAERT -

AMBHRERELLATES - MATEEES
EMINEERH -

EREIGE (FEMBREEL) OMBERE
B EEERFHTESIIEERANER UK
BE B AN HAOMR S BERAVFIER -
fhatFMERER - BLEAFNERRE 2 EEER
BLUFERNREERELRAAENRIER
fBRZRIEHR - HAER S (FAHIE TR H it
BEREMEBHNNEERREREENER - B
BRAER ATRE B RSB ETEIEE -

EREE T B SIBGEIERESR - 18
BEHEMETASHER— 08 - EHEE
BEZHAMATEDS | MRETHENRRTS
RIS AR - B (ST RO RBRI IR F R
R o

() BEHEREE

BEEGEAG SR (FEMBRE
#A) Eesk "HE, RETIEET - A%
IR ARMESTEHREE A S MME R EM -

BT (EBMBRMELER) E165k " HE I
i H At BN R S A A HI R s LU R ARG
FRRUBRANORHEN 2RI TERERT
£ - BEETERAETAEASBERERE
AR ERI B RRE -

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is
the historical cost basis.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$"), which
is the same as the functional currency of the Commission.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenditure. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases, and a number of
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Commission.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have had a material
effect on how the Commission’s results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Commission has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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2. FEEREE (\)
() BEEEREE (#)
(BBRITEHEER) %2 16 5 "HAE,

(EBMFREER) F165 "HE, KT
(EEBGER) £175% "HE, RiEHER
B aiEEE (ERVEREHREEESE) @&
BAEE 458 BEE—RLHELEEHE
&8 (EMEREE) BEAGEE 155 1§
S BEER, &8 (ERMERES
5827 5% T FHMELLUAREXNBERIEERZZ/
BE - EAERMEASIATE—HNEE
B BRAMAMBHEHBEREEEMN
MEBE HHEHA 2EANERMNEE
(T5EHAME ) UREBEEEHEERM -
HEARNE T REEECA (FAgE1LEL)
517 SREORTE - MRIR KBRS TE -

(BAMBMEIED) 516 SRIFEM T EME
MEBRBEK - SHEEMBRKEAERESN
FHEMEEHEROMBERR « MBERENES
MV E -

TXE T UEEE BRSSO EMRELL
R ReY:EE T E=RFFE

a. HHIMEZESE

MEERNE L TR RITHI#N
B o (FBHHBREER) 516
SRIRIEE P2 DT — R AR
WHNEERNER (FJRKE—E
MEMREREE) REBEEFHE
£ - BEFTEHAIEHHENE
EERNET  SRRESERR
Al B EFT A RO F 2B E R
& BIEERREIRRERE -

BAF5 R RIIEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LB 317 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related interpretations, HK(IFRIC)
4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating

leases — incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of transactions

involving the legal form of a lease. It introduces a single accounting model

for lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and

a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a lease term of 12

months or less (“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets. The lessor

accounting requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17 which remain

substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure

requirements which aim to enable users of the financial statements to assess

the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial performance

and cash flows of an entity.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous

accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out below:

a.

2019/2020 F #§

67

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset for a
period of time, which may be determined by a defined amount
of use. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

a.

New definition of a lease (continued)

The new definition of a lease has no significant impact on the
financial statements of the Commission.

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify
leases as either operating leases or finance leases, as was
previously required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Commission is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the lessee, including
leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS
17, other than those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets which are exempt. As far as the Commission is concerned,
there was no newly capitalised leases at the date of transition
to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019). The newly capitalised leases
during the year ended 31 March 2020 are primarily in relation to
property as disclosed in note 9. For an explanation of how the
Commission applies lessee accounting, see note 2(e).

At the date of lease inception, the Commission determined the
length of the lease terms and measured the lease liabilities at
the present value of the lease payments, discounted using the
relevant incremental borrowing rates.
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2. TESEHHE (8) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) EEREE (48) (c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
b. FEHEABESHEIENEESZ () b.  Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

EBEMNABER (FEHBBRE & To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Commission applied the
BlY 165 g5 E N (FHEE recognition exemption at the date of initial application of HKFRS
FEEREER) E16EEH XHITH 16 such that the Commission did not apply the requirements
IR TREDRRGEHE DLt % of HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease liabilities and
RB (A RES£E) 2516 right-of-use assets to leases for which the remaining lease term
EEAHTHE RS HE ends within 12 months from the date of initial application of
12 {EABNiEE (BIFEEHR - HKFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or before 31 March
—EE=A=+—ASZABER) 2020.

WS - REERER (FBUH
HEED) E 16k ARAMEEES
REMEAREENEX -

TR THREFISHEEN = The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments
—hWE=B=+—HEEEEX as disclosed in note 18 as at 31 March 2019 to the opening
MR _—_E—NFNB—HMHERH balance for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019:

HERBHMEERZ FHAVEIR -

20195F4H1H
1 April 2019

BT HKS

220193831 HRVISEFE ERIE

Operating lease commitment at 31 March 2019

i BRBIRERNMEAEERRARAIE |

Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from capitalisation:

- BRTAHERAR2020F3 531 HEL 2 R RIERZ S HAFA &

Short-term leases with remaining lease term ending on or before 31 March 2020

- 54201953831 B ZBIETaL LR H$2019FE3 H31 ik BIBAIEE &Y

Lease contract entered before 31 March 2019 and not yet commenced on 31 March 2019

36,032,400

(1,752,000)

(34,280,400)

$£2019%F4 81 BRI EREIRER
Total lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Impact on the financial result and cash flows of the Commission

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities from 1 April 2019, the Commission as a lessee
is required to recognise interest expense accrued on the
outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation
of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. This results in a negative
impact on the reported surplus for the year in the Commission’s
income and expenditure account, as compared to the results if
HKAS 17 had been applied during the year.

In the statement of cash flows, the Commission as a lessee is
required to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into their
capital element and interest element (see note 11(b)). These
elements are classified as financing cash outflows, similar to
how leases previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17
were treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as was the
case for operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash
flows are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results
in a significant change in presentation of cash flows within the
statement of cash flows (see note 11(c)).
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2. TESHHEE () 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) % MBRE (d) Property, plant and equipment

e MESE R ERME  IEMERAMEMSELR)  Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets arising
FEAEEE (2EMEE20e)) ) JHiRmA{EH]  from leases of underlying property (see note 2(e)) are stated at cost less
MEBITEMBIERNERIEAR - % « #58  accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of
BB ASIEEHESE(E ' URE[  property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
(B EEMER AR M /ERTEHEE  attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
ZEHIERREMMA c HRIBEMASIERSH  foritsintended use. The costs of project-in-progress comprise expenditure
ZEARAMIBEHNRA  BemlaEaIAEE  of capital projects not yet completed. Costs of completed projects are

AMBRI B ERER - MIBREEEHMRAELH]  transferred to the appropriate asset category. Repairs and maintenance are
RI7EZ 18 B A H0RR o charged to the income and expenditure account during the period in which
they are incurred.

TE TR « MR RN B A EIRE L Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
SHEEE (N8 ) B EGEOIFHESEHILL equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line

B AR method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

(g i [ RS =F Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or 3 years
HEDERE (MRS RE) Office equipment 3 years
N =%

TRSHEM B BT 1 =3 Computer hardware and software 3 years
BREBETLEE =5 Furniture and fixtures 3 years
SRE AT Motor vehicles 5 years
EREEE mEREES Right-of-use assets Over the unexpired term of lease
TEETIEESM R A EBERITMEITE - No provision for depreciation is made for project-in-progress until such time

when the assets are substantially completed and ready for use.

BEMIEHIREREE (15 ) €RE8ET  Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
LIAET o annually.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure account if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset, or of the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assets. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable

amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
the income and expenditure account on the date of retirement or disposal.

(e) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Commission assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LB 317 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee

(A)

2019/2020 F£ 3R | 73

Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

At the lease commencement date, the Commission recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. When the Commission enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Commission decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to income and expenditure account in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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2. FESEHEHEE () 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) THESEE (18) (e) Leased assets (continued)
(A) ZE—NFEPNH—HEERF A B (A)  Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)
B (1)
TEEA LSRRI EEEEE The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
R AYIEET S o [FREEENR initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
AEOEHESEENYIEESZE Ik of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
I EHAR S B RS the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
(FEFEY RESEE N IEEES Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
He THBHBRT  FHESEN includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
RAERIERERFZGEHEBREE underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on
BRI S Es E B {h TS which it is located, discounted to their present value, less any
BERBRAITIREANIRE  BRER lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
B EEE - FEESELRA stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
BERTENMEERE (2R losses (see notes 2(d)).
B 2(d)) AR ©
e S E Lk R B L B R ARFB S The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
IEEST AT 0 BN EIRERS lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or
{EIER(LETAOFE(T £RE3s £ EE) - there is a change in the Commission’s estimate of the amount
BN EEe ELSIEETEETT expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
{HEE S - BRI E SR EEN there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the
BhERBEEL ) BIEEHRTE Commission will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
HEEE - HEESREER FTEHE extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
EREaE  EYEEESENR remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
EEEHMEERE ; WEREEE the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
WIEESECSHEE @ BIfS+ERAH income and expenditure if the carrying amount of the right-of-
B AMNZIEEH o use asset has been reduced to zero.
BIFEHA R - SRR E 1T - K In the statement of financial position, the Commission presents
BREMAEE TIINEREEE - right-of-use assets within “property, plant and equipment” and
WA RIFIREE&E - presents lease liabilities separately.
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2. TESHKE () 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) THESE (18) (e) Leased assets (continued)
(B) —E—NFPMH—HZEEHE (B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

H%E
EBRNCIETEE LB EZE Leases were classified as finance leases whenever the terms
KEBH A S & EEREEfZ ZE &FE A of the lease transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
I EERE AR ERE - FREH of ownership to the lessee. All other leases were classified as
IR AL EMEE - operating leases.
EERE THESHESMNEREN Rental payable under operating leases were charged to the
FHEIR B ETE N TE B kR o income and expenditure account on a straight-line basis over

the term of the relevant lease.

(f) MEUEX (f) Receivables

FENER R EE R S S IS IEMBE 2 REFIBE A receivable is recognised when the Commission has an unconditional right
FESR - BREEESEHI T EERE—E to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if
BRI @ EEZEAAVEN SR A mEE 4t only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
By o due.

FEN A ERA BB EEEIaL EiE 5 % Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method
SR AT - ELREANF - less allowance for credit losses as determined below:

B BT E 2R EREARIFEEA(=EIE  The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected

HE 0 BNfEREURERFEET E sy BRI TES TS 4 credit losses (“ECLs"), which are those losses that are expected to occur over

BBk - FIELHEHZEEEENEZEREF the expected life of the receivables. The loss allowance is estimated using a

(I FES RO AR PEEETT » MARIBEEA provision matrix based on the Commission’s historical credit loss experience,

EENREETHEE > ERFYRE A EaRTE adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of

SRl B B R M S HE T T 2T © both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

EHREHMSHTE  BFxeeAZLRM For all other financial instruments, the Commission recognises a loss

12 B BYaRR{E HIB45B(EIBL £ b [RIED allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
BT B9 B A B AR E KIBIEA - A increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in
It 1B EHSIR S R AR E A S B ERR FaHE which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ERBLEEEETE © ECLs.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Receivables (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Commission recognises
an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of receivables through a loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of receivable is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Commission determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

(g) Payables

Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

(i) Employee benefits
(i)  Employee leave, gratuity and other entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave, gratuity and other
entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for untaken annual

leave, gratuity and other entitlements as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the year end date.
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2. TESEHHE (8) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) EEIEF (48) (i) Employee benefits (continued)
() 1ESEE - HHEeREMEE# (i) Employee leave, gratuity and other entitlements (continued)
(#)
BETEEHNRE - DHEBRIEGE Employee entitlements to sick leave, maternity leave and
BRER KBS TR o paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
BEIEH X =7 18R IR T IR (A% Employee benefit expenses are charged as expense on an
IRBSHECEREEI AT o accrual basis in the period in which the associated services are
rendered.
(i) EERHERKGTE] (i) Defined contribution retirement scheme

gERadMA—ER GRFltEARE The Commission has joined and made contributions to a
S ETEI&EY T RSIEIERGIMEATE mandatory provident fund scheme established under the
£EtEl o Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
BRI ATE S ST B2 S (TR The obligations for contributions to mandatory provident
SREFEINEZIBE AR o IR MER fund scheme are recognised as an expense in the income and
% > RS WEETENSE - expenditure account as incurred. The Commission has no
Hitglz EERERe v EENH further payment obligation once the contributions have been
FH 0 B—IERBEIEFEAETEN paid. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
H4 o the Commission in an independently trustee-administered fund.

(j) BiERXBEEE (j) Provisions and contingent liabilities

R e AN O RN EGRIELESHETS Provisions are recognised when the Commission has a legal or constructive

I MEBETZEIEEENSEEBEMEER  obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow

BIEIE 0 I B[ {ER S=A9(LET - EEETHER of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable

i - R EWIFREEA @ QI HSIREETE estimate can be made. When the time value of money is material, provisions

TSEFREEENIRELIN o are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only

ed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income recognition

Details of the Commission’s income recognition policies are as follows:

Government subventions

Government subventions are recognised initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the
Commission will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Government subventions that compensate the Commission for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Government subventions
relating to expenditure for specific projects are deferred and
recognised in the income and expenditure account over the
period necessary to match them with the expenses that they
are intended to compensate. Deferred income arising from
property, plant and equipment for specific use acquired through
Government subventions is recognised in the Commission’s
income and expenditure account in accordance with the
depreciation policies of the related assets.

Application fee income

Application fee income is recognised only to the extent of the
costs incurred that it is probable to be recoverable.
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2. FESEHKE () 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k) UIABVFEER (48) (k) Income recognition (continued)
(i) FIEUA (iii)  Interestincome

F B ARBERF R ERETHE Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective
2 R FREESMEENTE interest method, using the rate that exactly discounts estimated
B S aAMETIIERRIE DU A future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
EENMEEZEMEERAEEN asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
H o

() BERE () Borrowing costs

BHiERENEERERRA LIS ARTERASEE Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction

IHEMNSEWE BEaEENESmA 8 or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time

FLEAEELEEMAN—ZS c HitiiES to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of

BAR EEEARE G - that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

(m) FABAL (m) Related parties
(i) BALTEHZLHERENSSHIEE (i) Aperson, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the
BB L BEZANL Commission if that person:
() HHEEZGEEHISIEREES (@ has control or joint control over the Commission;
(b) ¥EEZEBEZIATES ; 5 (b)  has significant influence over the Commission; or
() AEZemIEZIERE () is a member of the key management personnel of the
Commission.
(i) TELUFEMIELT » —EfEe i (i) An entity is related to the Commission if any of the following
AT HRN conditions applies:
(@ ZERERZEAR—£E (@  The entity and the Commission are members of the same
BRE (EEEBAR @ ME group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
NRARRARMBARZEE fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
BRAHE) o
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2. FEZE

EHECR (48)

(m) FABAL (48)

(ii)

LU EMELT - —E5E
RHEREES RN

(b)

(e)

i
(#&)

m}

BES —ERNMER
RIEGEAR (BZMERD
AEAEAREZS —EiE
HBE—%E) -

U

J

EERERE§:
EINT] ©

ER—B=FNG

—Efe
Tﬁ'ﬁ%—aﬁg’ﬁ\ﬂ E%E
E’JH‘JHE.’L-\\_J °

ZERERMHESRIEEL
BFE B FRET SRS
SR ERNES
ZEIRIE (m)() 'R
BN LAl s L EEE

£ (m)(i)(a) TRFRFTIERIAIA £
MEATHZEREEAY
27 HZALEZERE (8
EXEBENBLAR) WER
ERABZBE °

ZERE BHMER—
B ERRERREE R
FEEEAER -

BATHREERREETERRERIZH

FEHA AT BES
KB o

s 48:

Ve — ]

AT RZATRENKE

2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Related parties (continued)

g8 | 80

(i) An entity is related to the Commission if any of the following

conditions applies: (continued)

(b)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a

group of which the other entity is a member).

(c)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(d)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Commission or an

entity related to the Commission.

(f)  The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person

identified in (m)(i).

(@) A person identified in (m)(i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(h)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the

Commission.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Competition Commission



Lk EErES

Financial Statements

CrE b B EE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUB #3177~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. HATHERD 3. Government subventions

BB e EBISAITHERAT ( "HAF ) Government subventions represent the funds granted by the Government
YR @ AR s - DIBETT (1&6) Bieaiis o of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government”) for the

EEAEMABFEEERFE IR B AFESR Commission to discharge its duties under the Ordinance. Reconciliation
HFtEB R RATF - between Government subventions granted for the year and Government

subventions recognised in the income and expenditure account during the

year is as follows:

RE#EED FEZE HERD HEh &R
Recurrent  Non-recurrent Surplus
subventions subventions subventions
BT HK$ BT HKS BT HKS
ANERNFER 2 BUTHEED
Government subvention granted for the year 119,224,000 11,930,000 - 131,154,000

AL A F R FEESRI BV BN (BIEE14(a) )
Government subventions received in prior years
and recognised during the year (Note 14(a)) 1,589,252 1,709,916 - 3,299,168

FEEEARREHE I R IS IR B R HERS AV BN B ER
(BftEE15(0))
Surplus subvention approved and recognised in
the income and expenditure account during

the year (note 15(b)) - - 479,728 479,728
R AEEE (BIEE14(0))
Amortisation of deferred income (Note 14(b)) 396,236 3,026,504 141,074 3,563,814

BATAIELSHE) (BzE14())

Transfer to Government subventions received in

advance (Note 14(a)) (2,214,000) (11,930,000) - (14,144,000)
TEU 32 R B REEBRIELAS #BN
Government subventions recognised in the 118,995,488 4,736,420 620,802 124,352,710

income and expenditure account
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3. HATHERD ($8) 3. Government subventions (continued)

R FEE R HEED fHEh R R
Recurrent  Non-recurrent Surplus =11
subventions subventions subventions Total
7BJIT HK$ 7BIT HK$ /BJT HK$ BT HK$
AENELRZ BUSHED
Government subvention granted for the year 104,659,000 2,970,000 - 107,629,000

EFEENIL S FRFESSAVELAS RN (FiEE14(a))
Government subventions received in prior years
and recognised during the year (Note 14(a)) 4,196,069 273,165 - 4,469,234

BATARBUSHEE) (HiEE146))

Transfer to Government subventions received

in advance (Note 14(a)) (3,790,000) (2,970,000) - (6,760,000)
TE U7 IR B FES3 AV LA #HEN
Government subventions recognised in the 105,065,069 273,165 - 105,338,234

income and expenditure account

4, SNE£HBD 4. Litigation Fund subventions

2020 2019
7IT HKS 75T HKS

RERUE/ EIRAEREAE S HE)
Litigation Fund subventions received/receivable for the year 8,507,857 28,710,000
TSR S F i RBRVEREA B 2 EBN
Litigation Fund subventions received in prior years and recognised
during the year 5,092,473 -

BATAGEREAE S 4HB)
Transfer to Litigation Fund subventions received in advance - (5,092,473)
U iR B RFERBAYEREAE S #HED
Litigation Fund subventions recognised in the income and
expenditure account 13,600,330 23,617,527

g!;
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5. FEUQERES 5. Application fee received in advance

2020 2019
FEIT HKS 7T HKS

F4)
At beginning of the year - B,

RERRRINREE
Application fee received during the year - 100,000

HRIKZ R B RS A0 4R

Amount recognised in income and expenditure account - (100,000)

FR
At end of the year - -

BB R EMBBNER EIEILEEL  Fee received for the application of a decision for certain exclusions and
IR RE AR E TFAREREE | MESE(  exemptions is deferred and recognised as “Application fee received in

HEMELENRAERNLEEERZIRE advance” in the statement of financial position. An amount equivalent to
AFEER BT A o the cost incurred for assessment of the application is recognised as income

in the income and expenditure account.

6. HthlgA 6. Otherincome

2020 2019
BT HK$ BT HKS

BIRME - HhER KA Rl

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,778 46,400

HAth

Others - 257,835

A8 g 43 ]

Reversal of reinstatement provision 1,220,000 -
1,222,778 304,235
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7. BEREX 7. Staff expenses
2020 2019
78T HK$ 7BJT HKS
FEM R H Athig F)
Salaries and other benefits 63,348,463 57,526,844
BEIMATRRETEIZ MR
Contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme 1,034,409 944,503
64,382,872 58,471,347
8. HiEXZH 8. Enforcement expenses
2020 2019
78T HKS 78JT HKS
FAEZH
Investigation expenses 15,980,673 3,613,644
SRERSZH
Litigation expenses 13,600,330 23,564,851
HAth
Others 133,196 408,027
29,714,199 27,586,522
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9. Y - B RRE 9. Property, plant and equipment
EharE
REE  BRR ‘
HEMRRE WAERE  computer EERE SE #EEE FRERE
Leasehold Office hardware Furniture Motor Project- Right-of-use
improvements equipment and software and fixtures vehicles in-progress assets
BITHKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS  ETHKS  ETHKS BT HKS
7 Cost
$22018F481H
At 1 April 2018 9,027,736 1,488,285 15,512,430 587,213 285,677 - - 26,901,341
fEE
Additions - 41,340 2,715,914 - - 261,075 - 3,018,329
B
Disposals - - (575,570) - - - - (575,570)
$2201983H31H
At 31 March 2019 9,027,736 1,529,625 17,652,774 587,213 285,677 261,075 - 29,344,100

FEHIE Accumulated depreciation

72018%F481H
At 1 April 2018 8,521,924 1435252 13,414,538 564,816 219,018 - - 24,155,548

e
Charges 379,359 51,690 1,509,431 13,388 57,135 - - 2,011,003

TEIERF A
Written back on
disposals - - (575,570) - - - - (575,570)

#820195F3A31H
At 31 March 2019 8,901,283 1,486,942 14,348,399 578,204 276,153 - - 25,590,981

PRE & Carrying amount

#£201983831H
At 31 March 2019 126,453 42683 3,304,375 9,009 9,524 261,075 - 3,753,119
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9. ¥ - BBRNE (8) 9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
BhabEY
- _ R##H &R -
BEMRRE WOERE  computer ETEKRE SE  HEEREE GRESEE o
Leasehold Office hardware Furniture Motor Project- Right-of-use &t
improvements equipment and software and fixtures vehicles in-progress assets Total
BT HKS  BTHKS  ETHKS BT HKS  BITHKS  BILHKS  BILHKS BT HKS
%7 Cost
7820194810
At 1 April 2019 9,027,736 1,529,625 17,652,774 587,213 285,677 261,075 - 29,344,100
fBE
Additions 14,002,537 1,604,591 2,537,688 110,888 - 2,052,837 30,786,885 51,095,426
A
Disposals (8,970,304) (603,315)  (2,392,807) (488,145) - - - (12,454,571)
BA
Transfer 61,275 - 71,800 - - (133,075) - -
7£202053H31H
At 31 March 2020 14,121,244 2,530,901 17,869,455 209,956 285,677 2,180,837 30,786,885 67,984,955

BEHAE Accumulated depreciation

$22019F481H
At 1 April 2019 8,901,283 1,486,942 14,348,399 578,204 276,153 - - 25,590,981

e
Charges 3974869 246339 2,084,064 36,076 9,524 - 5,131,148 11,482,020
TRIERT A

Written back on
disposals (8,970,304) (597,765)  (2,386,670) (484,410) - - - (12,439,149)

#2020%3831H
At 31 March 2020 3,905,848  1,135516 14,045,793 129,870 285,677 - 531,148 24,633,852

PRE{E Carrying amount

#42020%3831H
At 31 March 2020 1021539 1,395,385 3,823,662 80,086 - 2180837 25655737 43,351,103
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9. ¥ - MBRRERE (8) 9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
EREEE Right-of-use assets

BRI S EN BN RS EMNIEERESH  Theanalysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying

AT - asset is as follows:
2020
/BJT HKS
LITE A ARREER B
Properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated cost 25,655,737

EAREER AR Rt SRR X HH 18 B 4 =51 The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss
I : is as follows:

2020 2019
JBIT HKS BT HKS

HFERYECERAREENITEER

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets of properties leased for own use 5,131,148 -
MEEEMNE
Interest on lease liabilities 1,030,217 -

BREHIH SN H MBS BRNER NS HEHRE_S-_2F=R
=t+—R=ZaE
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with remaining lease
term ending on or before 31 March 2020 1,752,000 -

LERTIRAR (FAGEIHER) #1758 AEEHENRERE IR

Total minimum lease payments for leases previously classified as operating

leases under HKAS 17 = 5,256,000
FAERA - S (E S EER 30,786,885 T During the year, addition to right-of-use assets were HK$30,786,885, solely
(EEHBNELENEANLENIEES(T25E7Ha  related to the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
B8 o agreement.

HEESANHESAHBELEXE HEAEN Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity analysis of lease liabilities
BHID T R ERIDS A HBIEIEDBIAAMIEE  and the future cash outflows arising from leases that are not yet commenced
11(c) FOFfFEE 16 FHFl o are set out in notes 11(c) and 16 respectively.

2019/2020 %R | 87 | Annual Report 2019/2020



B

Financial Statements

B TS ER R b 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LU #3177 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

10. EfhEYE: -~ IS RFETEX 10. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments
2020 2019
7BJT HKS 7BIT HKS
EAh IR
Other receivables 463,268 347,404
FEEREAES 4B
Litigation Fund subventions receivable 4,457,857 -
B RFRER
Deposits and prepayments 2,703,998 3,871,610
7,625,123 4,219,014
7 Represented by :
mEnER s>
Current portion 5,962,763 4,219,014
IERENER S
Non-current portion 1,662,360 -
7,625,123 4,219,014

R e A RS EEIE FROEMEKE « % All of the Commission’s other receivables, deposits and prepayments under

& RIEEFESt IR —ERN B ERAER - current assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses
within one year.

11. RERBITER 11. Cash and bank balances
(a) HERESZEWEE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
2020 2019
7BJT HKS 7BIT HKS
RERIPITHETF
Cash and bank balances 39,383,411 37,831,931
[RTF A HAT 8@ =B A ARG ERSRIT 175X
Short-term bank deposits with original maturity not more than three months 28,000,000 20,000,000
RERREFEY
Cash and cash equivalents 67,383,411 57,831,931
RiFF R E=E A MIR1TER
Bank deposits with original maturity over three months 36,000,000 35,000,000

103,383,411 92,831,931
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11. RERBPTERE (8) 11. Cash and bank balances (continued)
(b) T EFEELHNEENEIR (b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

TERILSEZEREHEITNEEEE O The table below details changes in the Commission’s liabilities from financing

114 RIEIH 4 #E) - BhE EEELMAGR  activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
B4 ABERKRES RSB EESEZEMIESA  financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash

BRANEAMEBELSHRERE -

financing activities.

12019548 1H
At 1 April 2019

R IR &7 Z 2 8) Changes from financing cash flows:
ENHAEHEENEARLS

flows will be, classified in the statement of cash flows as cash flows from

HE&R

Lease liabilities

(Ffi5 Note 16)
BT HKS

Capital element of lease rentals paid (3,866,983)
EEER T B2

Interest element of lease rentals paid (1,030,217)
REIRERAVEENIEER

Total changes from financing cash flows (4,897,200)
H{th#2E)) Other changes:

FEZH

Interest expenses 1,030,217
EEREEAE (FFEE9)

Capitalisation of operating leases (note 9) 30,786,885
H At EhiREE

Total other changes 31,817,102
$2202053H31H

At 31 March 2020 26,919,902

2019/2020 F 3R
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11. HERBPTERE (8) 11. Cash and bank balances (continued)
(c) HER=FHEEE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
SHARSAERNIEE DA Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise the
following:
2019
2020 (#15% Note)
7T HKS /83T HKS
HEHRTRA
Within operating cash flows 1,752,000 5,256,000
MEBRTRA
Within financing cash flows 4,897,200 -
6,649,200 5,256,000
FisE © HEBIBEE B 1ELRFAANEHEISLIHE FRIIES T Note: Previously, cash payments under operating leases made by the Commission as a lessee
20 5,256,000 TR IR 2 B XA 2R B84 TE) - 1R of $5,256,000 were classified as operating activities in the statement of cash flows. Under
18 (BBEFEIREER) 5 16 58 ¢ Ti2HIfEE 1T HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease payments, payments for leases of low value assets
2 EEBEREHEN o EHEJEETMAEE and variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities, all
BESIEZI  HEBSTHIHEMS B AELX other rentals paid on leases are now split into capital element and interest element (see
BFIEZES (RN 110b))  EEIERABEIES note 11(b)) and classified as financing cash outflows. Further details on the impact of the
T o ZEIMIEE 2(c) BEARE ZRIEESR (&EE transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 2(c).

FIREEE) 16 SEELAIZE -

12. BESEEE 12. Provision for staff entitlements

7BJT HK$ 78JT HKS
4 At beginning of the year 7,612,896 6,269,568
4 Provisions made 6,645,592 6,026,213
BH Forfeitures (150,863) (541,287)
B 3214 K {2 £ %8 Amounts paid and utilised (4,842,067) (4,141,598)
TR At end of the year 9,265,558 7,612,896
W RENERSY Less: Current portion (7,827,028) (4,521,067)
FERENER 4 Non-current portion 1,438,530 3,091,829

BENEMEBREE AR (IERelMainNal Provision for staff entitlements is set up for gratuity payments, unutilised
HI e S EIRE RS NERMEMNLEE  annual leave and other staff-related benefits which will be payable to

2 K EBREMES S HHMET - employees of the Commission upon their fulfilment during the contract
period or at end of the contract period.
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13. HtET R EHER 13. Other payables and accruals

2020 2019
BT HKS BIT HKS

HAEA X

Other payables 7,454,387 2,151,006

FEEt &R

Accrued expenses 10,641,795 684,123

HAth

Others 3,985,365 1,443,261
22,081,547 4,278,390

%7K Represented by :

RENERSY

Current portion 18,258,097 4,278,390

IEmENER S

Non-current portion 3,823,450 -
22,081,547 4,278,390

ErEREBEIe FREME S REETE HTE All of the other payables and accruals under current liabilities are expected
ST —FERAEE o to be settled within one year.
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14. FEUCEURT #Eh B2 | ZEUR A 14. Government subventions received in advance and
deferred income
(a) FAWIAF#ED (a) Government subventions received in advance
2020 2019
/BT HK$ 7BJT HKS
F1))
At beginning of the year 21,631,835 19,341,069
Uz IR B ARSIV EER (FFEE3)
Amount recognised in income and expenditure account (Note 3) (3,299,168) (4,469,234)

KR E AR 28581 218 B AERBRIEED (BifEE 3)

Subventions received during the year and to be recognised

within 12 months (Note 3) 14,144,000 6,760,000
BEAEIA (FiEE14(0))
Transfer to deferred income (Note 14(b)) (14,321,434) -
TR
At end of the year 18,155,233 21,631,835
7 Represented by :
mENER >
Current portion 6,583,698 10,060,300
FETRENES
Non-current portion 11,571,535 11,571,535

18,155,233 21,631,835

AWK TS 2N R EC L E/(EIETEHEA Government subventions received in advance represent subventions

F R IRHR R 18 A HEfTRYIE B TaUkaY2kIE » tk received in connection with expenditure to be incurred after the end of the

ZhEEEIE AR RTEMHRIIEE S HESAHEE  reporting period for specific uses and are deferred and recognised as income

B F R IE IS 1R B RFESR A UL A o in the income and expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same
period in which the expenditure is incurred.

IERENL A EFIERFR =—E—NE=-8+H The balance under non-current portion represents an additional one-off
MEBTEMEBLUESEMNELIBEEM funding granted by the Government on 10 February 2014 for conducting

EMHEEIN =TT S 0 MBEREHAFH Mk  groundwork research and one-off expenses to support and strengthen
{EF - the Commission’s initial set-up, which remains unutilised at the end of the

reporting period.
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14. AINMFHBREZEWA (18) 14. Government subventions received in advance and
deferred income (continued)

(b) EIEUTA (b) Deferred income
2020 2019
BT HKS BT HKS
=20)

At beginning of the year - B,
BB FRIEUNHE) (FiEE146))

Transfer from Government subventions received in advance (Note 14(a)) 14,321,434 -
BB EER (MEE15())

Transfer from surplus subventions (Note 15(b)) 1,752,217 -
FAEEE (F5E3)

Amortisation for the year (Note 3) (3,563,814) -
FR

At end of the year 12,509,837 -

EIE UG A SE RIS BB S BRYIEEEER  The balance of deferred income represents the value of specific assets

B ' fHEMNDEWHEA LA « 32Ky financed by the Government subventions with corresponding amounts

s o SEIERATENZIRARRESR AL A » LUK capitalised as property, plant and equipment. Such deferred income is

SEFREE SRS ENINESEH - recognised as income in the income and expenditure account to offset
against the charges of depreciation of the relevant assets acquired.

15. F EESNHEBEIEL 15. Reserve fund and surplus subventions

(a) RBEE= (a) Reserve fund

REELRE—HBAER ThHEXeg I E The reserve fund is available for general use and can be spent at the
B - REEBIREER® @ ZFEE2RkeA discretion of the Commission. Unspent Government subventions at the
BT BN iEsE N BB A E S TREINE end of a financial year, which forms a part of the reserve fund, shall not
B2 BT ENEERY 25% (T EiE_EFR |) o BRIE exceed 25% of the Government subventions to the Commission in the
BrEERKEESEREEINERE (IBER following financial year (“the reserve ceiling”). The amount in excess of the
HERL) ERAIEERERERE (EER) % reserve ceiling would be returned to the Government, unless the reserve

IRFHEEGE FIR » T BIFBH % _ERRAYER ) ZE57 ceiling is raised by the Permanent Secretary for Commerce and Economic
EHAT © Development (Commerce, Industry and Tourism) following consultation with

the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau (The Treasury Branch).
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15. fEEEEM@EEES ()

15. Reserve fund and surplus subventions (continued)

(b) HWEIEES (b) Surplus subventions
BRES
Surplus Fund
2020
7BJT HKS
F4)
At beginning of the year 26,007,490 18,239,535
FAREREEE (KiFE3)
Amount utilised during the year (Note 3) (479,728) -
MEAEENEEE (FEE0))
Amount repaid to the Government (Note (i)) (5,567,955) -
BAGREWA (FfFEE14(0))
Transferred to deferred income (Note 14(b)) (1,752,217) -
BmEREE (FIEEG))
Transferred from reserve (Note (ii)) 10,811,465 7,767,955
FX
At end of the year 29,019,055 26,007,490
BfEE - Notes:

(i)

(ii)

B EFERLERRZ S 1REAEEE S 2,091 BITHItHEI B ER
HIEEHAER - BE—F—NF=F=+—H &
B 267 BT © 1375 1,824 BITEIRIER - BEEBhE#E 12
S EIFBTHEE - #EAEIREFER T 09 1,824 BT IR
BEE_Z__F=H=+—H LIREI—F22058
TR BB EE —E_—F=F=+—H ' LUET#
FEMBESH - #E_E_FTF=F=+—H ' (%8
1,821 BITHIfHEN BRI KR (EF -

RiEHFE —_ T _TF=F=+1—HAIEF LR - ZBHRE
5 EBR 10,811,465 7T ( —E— L5 : 7,767,955 7x ) HI
BEFSTE T —BIH F B EREREBUTT ©

(i) In previous years, the Government approved the Commission to retain a total of $20.91
million surplus subventions for specific use. As at 31 March 2019, $2.67 million had been
spent and $18.24 million remained. The Commission subsequently proposed and obtained
approval from the Government to continue to retain the remaining surplus subvention of
$18.24 million until 31 March 2022, and an additional surplus subvention of $2.2 million until
31 March 2021, for meeting specific expenditures of the Commission. As at 31 March 2020,
HK$18.21 million has not yet been utilised.

(ii)  Based on the reserve ceiling as at 31 March 2020, the surplus in excess of the reserve ceiling
amounting to $10,811,465 (2019: $7,767,955) will be returned to the Government in the next
financial year.
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16. THESE 16. Lease liabilities
T THEZelEaEEARSHZRFM E  The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
—ERAEHARAUFIER S HIHAER : Commission’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting
periods:
$2202053A31H 12019%3A318 (Hiz)
31 March 2020 31 March 2019 (note)
AEM _ AEMXK
ZHRE HEFK ZRE
Present value L] Present value
of the lease Total lease of the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
7BIT HKS 7BIT HKS 7BIT HKS BT HKS
—FA
Within 1 year 5,014,375 5,876,640 - -
—FRE"FR
After 1 year but within 2 years 5,192,721 5,876,640 - -
“HFREATEA
After 2 years but within 5 years 16,712,806 17,629,920 -
21,905,527 23,506,560 - -
26,919,902 29,383,200 - -
T ARERF B3 HARER
Less: total future interest expenses (2,463,298) -
1= =3
HEBEZRE 26,919,902 i

Present value of lease liabilities

BfiEE ¢ BRE T CEEANEETAIE W A6 7 (&85 Note: The Commission has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective

FEEREER) 316 52 - R _ZF— L FINH—H¥HE approach. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019, the Commission
B EEITIIRERRE e e EARANEE as a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of
SRAEHEEENINE  MIEZRBIENHEEES the previous policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a
AL B#RZERSEH BT ER - IRIEZH straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative information
0E o BB BRI AR ETTE M  ZREAEE 2(c) © is not restated. See note 2(c).
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17. EXBEBFES 17. Material related party transactions
RSN ERETU TEARBREAS ! The Commission entered into the following material related party

transactions during the year:

2020 2019
7JIT HKS JBIT HKS

FEEEANEHRM
Key management compensation
FEM R EL %
Salaries and other benefits 11,739,221 11,853,120
It AR B2 TR
Contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme 54,000 54,000
11,793,221 11,907,120
REEZENE
Honorarium to Commission members 4,080,000 4,060,000
BERFHL R AR M m E Mt TSP R 2 B F
Cost reimbursement to other Government departments for
IT related services - 47,158

EsEREEEeEERTESIEABRAEES Al transactions related to the procurement of goods and services involving

BERMMENS RIRERERESS  192EH organisations in which a member of the Commission and key management
e e e iR RS R e B R S R IEE IR personnel may have an interest are conducted in the normal course of

REFREHETT o business and in accordance with the Commission’s financial obligations and

normal procurement procedures.
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18. 7KiE 18. Commitments

(a) M-E_EF=H=+—Hk{Ef (a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2020 not

MY RERFEIRRAIE B E RS provided for in the financial statements were as follows:
FRBUOT -
2020 2019
78T HKS 7BIT HKS
=HIES)
Contracted for 3,168,517 2,421,209

(b) R-E—NE=HA=+—H8 ' A7 (b) At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease

Bz SHE T REMNRIE payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
FHERIEMWEENT : payable as follows:
LVES
Properties
—FA
Within 1 year 6,649,200
—FRELFA
After 1 year but within 5 years 23,506,560
AFLE
More than 5 years 5,876,640

36,032,400

RIEZH (FEASEHER]) 175 8% &  The Commission is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held
EREEYERS w25 KL EaA under leases which were previously classified as operating leases under
A BZE—HLENB—HE » RIEMNEE 2(e) HKAS 17. From 1 April 2019 onwards, future lease payments are recognised
BIERIETE » KRB E( HRE R R R b e as lease liabilities in the statement of financial position in accordance with
TEMEEE ARSI ERRMEEMEE  the policies set out in note 2(e), and the details regarding the Commission’s
IEFAMIET 16 FRIEEE o future lease payments are disclosed in note 16.
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(LUE )7 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

19. MBEMERREMT RN
AniE

BREECIEUH T ACSRERITHT - HFA
REHBREGCEE - BiEETFHMBAEE
EEXNEMTE  SFEHMERSR RE - H
e TR FERT B R ~ TRUUEUR #HBh LU R #EBh
BER - HEEREAEEFMAREEARLL
RrghEEERE - EE MG RTHRRLL
EREEEH 2 ABEERE -

(a) EEE

EERBETZHFRERTHESEMRS
EHAZEIMERHEZEEZRIBRZER -
BEEMEHNNEERRERZREEFHNEE
TR RIF R&/IVEE B A S REE 2 RT1T
&7

BEEMEEMEEMAZNEEERENG
FEMBEENZ2MPROREE - BEF I E
FILF SRE ERR EERS -

(b) HMENEZES
BEENBE AT RS HIRR R TAEARED

BEEREXR - LUIRREME RS LUEM
FEHRBERZABHESER °

19. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments

The Commission’s principal financial instrument comprises bank balances,
of which the purpose is to maintain the Commission’s operations. The
Commission has other financial instruments, such as other receivables,
deposits, other payables, accruals, Government subventions received in
advance and surplus subventions, which arise directly from its operations.
The Commission is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk which arise directly
from its activities. The Commission generally adopts conservative strategies
on the Commission’s risk management and limits the Commission’s exposure

to these risks to a minimum.
(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its obligations
to repay the amounts due to the Commission resulting in a loss to the
Commission. The Commission’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, which are deposited with financial institutions in Hong Kong with
sound credit ratings and minimal credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Commission’s financial assets
represents their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. The
Commission does not hold any collateral over these assets.

(b) Liquidity risk
The Commission’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected

liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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19. BAFEEBEERSM T AN 19. Financial risk management and fair value of
NRE (8) financial instruments (continued)
(b) MEIE=REME () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)

REMREAK @ SR ESKIEHIREALHEE2  Theremaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Commission’s
SEAEREEE B TREBEZAHNFER financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on the earliest

BN : date on which the Commission is required to settle is summarised below:
2020
KRMRSHRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FME
—FLIFE BARFLUTF
ENRFEIHA More than . IRE =
Within 1 year or 1 year but less =1 Carrying
on demand than 5 years Total amount
/BJT HK$ /BJT HK$ /BJT HK$ /BT HK$
B ZBEER
Provision for staff entitlements 7,827,028 1,438,530 9,265,558 9,265,558
HittEA R R B ER
Other payables and accruals 18,258,097 3,823,450 22,081,547 22,081,547
HERME
Lease liabilities 5,876,640 23,506,560 29,383,200 26,919,902
FRUSBURT 15BN
Government subventions received in advance 6,583,698 11,571,535 18,155,233 18,155,233
BN R ER
Surplus subventions 29,019,055 - 29,019,055 29,019,055

67,564,518 40,340,075 107,904,593 105,441,295
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19. BAFEEBGEBREESMIER 19. Financial risk management and fair value of
NRE (18) financial instruments (continued)
(b) FEIESEREE () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
2019
REREHRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FE
—F LTk BRETF
BNEFEIHA More than IRE=EE
Within 1 year or 1 year but less Carrying
on demand than 5 years amount
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS
i8S =T #ER
Provision for staff entitlements 4,521,067 3,091,829 7,612,896 7,612,896
HithE R EETER
Other payables and accruals 4,278,390 - 4,278,390 4,278,390
FEUN BT 48BN
Government subventions received in advance 10,060,300 11,571,535 21,631,835 21,631,835
FEUEREAE S #HED
Litigation Fund subventions received in advance 5,092,473 - 5,092,473 5,092,473
BN R ER
Surplus subventions 26,007,490 - 26,007,490 26,007,490
49,959,720 14,663,364 64,623,084 64,623,084
(c) EHEFGE (c) Currencyrisk

e ANRSELETEHE  smExERAm The Commission has no significant exposure to currency risk as substantially
BREASERPESER o all of the Commission’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(d) BHrEHE (d) Capital management

R SEELE  EABNERGERES The Commission’s primary objectives when managing its funds are to
BUFHEE(ERE S - S R RRRERIREEBEE safeguard the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
EMFTE o Commission’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

(e) ARIEEE (e) Fair value measurement

RS T BIRm A M ATIIRAY  The carrying amounts of the Commission’s financial instruments carried
REEEER T _EFEFER-_FE—HLFE=H at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as at

N —=—

=+—HEARBEILEEAESR - 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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20. HEEU

FEZ & E Nutanix Hong Kong Limited X Efth -
CTEA 1/2017

RIE—NFHRRA+TH X BiFEHEIRE
(FEH R ) ¥ E Nutanix Hong Kong Limited
(" Nutanix ;) ~ BT Hong Kong Limited ("BT ) »
Innovix Distribution Limited (" Innovix ;) &

Tech-21 Systems Limited (" Tech-21,) 23& &
F—1TATEH  BAERFIREFLHAGS
Nutanix ~ BT # Innovix 2 12 #& E &f ° Tech-21
ARERESXNHREZEMEENINERE
B -#E_Z_ZF=R=+—H ' {REE#E

25 AR AT S IE AR S

2 FUtHE SRS SRR A EE o

21. @E_F_FF=-A=+—HL
FREEEHEIRIC EME R 3K
RMERT - MR R 2R AT RETH 2R
MEE

BEFUBHRATIGAML - FERHHAR
EIRHETFRED  —EHLA ERBE
—ECEE=AS+—ALFERRES A
RIS LA TN S AT A - LA
{LBE T RBERERMAES -

CrE b B EE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LB 37 Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

20. Contingent receivable

Competition Commission v Nutanix Hong Kong Ltd and Others, CTEA 1/2017

On 17 May 2019, the Competition Tribunal held that Nutanix Hong Kong
Limited (“Nutanix”), BT Hong Kong Limited (“BT”), Innovix Distribution
Limited (“Innovix”) and Tech-21 Systems Limited (“Tech-21") are persons
who have contravened the first conduct rule and liable to have orders made
against them accordingly. Appeals of the decision have been lodged by
Nutanix, BT and Innovix. Tech-21 may be ordered to pay a portion of the legal
costs incurred by the Commission. As of 31 March 2020, according to legal
advice, the amount that the Commission can expect to receive cannot be
reliably estimated. Therefore, no asset is recognised in respect of this claim.

21. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a
number of amendments and a new standard which are not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2020 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the following which may
be relevant to the Commission.

FRLATF B RSk A s AR B EHERR S 3%

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after

(EAEER) E158/ (FBFEHER) Be5REE] " EEMAIESE 2020F1A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020

R IEETMEE L ER B LM E R THR
WRE - BEBRAL  BiREHERMEL
BRI TR REEHMBRRELEEATE -

The Commission is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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